
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Ian Senior 01954 713000 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

11 October 2023 

 

To: Chair – Councillor Graham Cone 
 Vice-Chair – Councillor Stephen Drew 
 Members of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee – Councillors 

Anna Bradnam, Tom Bygott, Dr. Martin Cahn, Libby Earle, Sue Ellington, 
Peter Fane, Sally Ann Hart, James Hobro, Helene Leeming, 
Judith Rippeth, Richard Stobart and Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer 

Quorum: 4 
 

Substitutes: Councillors Heather Williams, Dr. Richard Williams, Bunty Waters, 
Mark Howell, Lina Nieto, Annika Osborne, Paul Bearpark, Carla Hofman, 
Dr Lisa Redrup and William Jackson-Wood 

 
 

 
There is a pre-meeting session at 5pm the day before the meeting, for members 

of the Committee only, to plan their lines of enquiry. 
 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of Scrutiny and Overview Committee, 
which will be held in the Council Chamber - South Cambs Hall on Thursday, 19 
October 2023 at 5.30 p.m. 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, 
subcommittees, and outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of 
the substitution in advance of the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute 
once the meeting has started.  Council Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
Liz Watts 
Chief Executive 
 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the 
community, access to its agendas and minutes.  If you have any 

specific needs, please let us know, and we will do what we can to 
help you. 

 

 

Agenda 
Pages 

1. Apologies for absence    

 

 

South Cambridgeshire Hall 

Cambourne Business Park 

Cambourne 

Cambridge 

CB23 6EA 

t: 01954 713000 

f: 01954 713149 

www.scambs.gov.uk 



 Councillor Sally Anne Hart has sent apologies. To receive apologies from 
other committee members.  

 

   
2. Declarations of Interest    
 

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting   7 - 12 
 To authorise the Chair to sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 

September 2023 as a correct record. 
 

   
4. Public Questions    
 If you would like to ask a question or make a statement, then please refer 

to the 
 
Document called Public Speaking Scheme (Physical Meetings) 
 
and contact the Scrutiny and Governance Adviser in Democratic Services 
by no later than 11.59pm on Friday 13 October. 

 

   
5. Northstowe - Community Facilities Update   13 - 26 
 
6. Cost-of-living support update   27 - 108 
 
7. Work Programme   109 - 

122 
 

8. To Note the Date of the next meeting    
 Thursday 16 November 2023 at 5.30pm.  
   

 

  
 Exclusion of Press and Public 
 The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without 
members of the Press and public being present.  Typically, such issues relate to 
personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege and so on.  In every 
case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must 
outweigh the public interest in having the information disclosed to them.  The following 
statement will be proposed, seconded and voted upon.   
 
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the 
consideration of the following item number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) 
(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if present, there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.” 
 
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press 
and public will not be able to view it.  There will be an explanation on the website 
however as to why the information is exempt.   

   
  

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD3526&ID=3526&RPID=1258172798


 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices 

 
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 

When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 

In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

 Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 

emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

 Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 

do so. 
 
First Aid 

If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 

We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 

Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 

We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 

You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 

Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 

Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 

   
 Declarations of interest - Guidance for Councillors 

mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk


 Declarations of interest 
 

As a Councillor, you are reminded of the requirements under the Council’s Code of Conduct to register 
interests and to disclose interests in a meeting. You should refer to the requirements set out in the Code 
of Conduct which are summarised in the notes at the end of this agenda frontsheet. 
Disclosable pecuniary interests  

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of you or your partner (which means spouse or civil 
partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if 
you are civil partners) which falls within the categories in Table 1 of the code of conduct, which is set out 
in Part 5 of the Constitution.  
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your disclosable pecuniary interests 
you must:  
 
disclose the interest; 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter; and 
must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation.  
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a 
matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.   
 
It is a criminal offence to:  
 
fail to notify the monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election 
fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is not on the register 
fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of a disclosable pecuniary interest that is not on the 
register that you have disclosed to a meeting  
participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or misleading in notifying the Monitoring Officer of 
a disclosable pecuniary interest or in disclosing such interest to a meeting. 
 
Other registerable interests 

These are categories of interest which apply to the Councillor only (not to their partner) and which should 
be registered. Categories are listed in Table 2 of the code of conduct, which is set out in Part 5 of the 
Constitution.  Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 
wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on 
the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not 
take part in any discussion or vote on the matter; and must not remain in the room unless you have been 
granted a dispensation. 
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 
Disclosure of non-registerable interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being (and is not 
a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or 
close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the 
public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or 
vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.  
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – a. your own financial interest or well-being; b. a 
financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a 
body included under Other Registrable Interests as set out in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. 
 
In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following 
test should be applied. Where a matter (referred to in the paragraph above) affects the financial interest or 
well-being: a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of inhabitants of the 
ward affected by the decision and; b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would 
believe that it would affect your view of the wider public interest, you may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any 
discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 
dispensation. 
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.  
 
[Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest on a matter to be 
considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, you 
must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter 
apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it] 

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s127329/Part%205.%20A.%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s127329/Part%205.%20A.%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s127329/Part%205.%20A.%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s127329/Part%205.%20A.%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf


   
 



This page is left blank intentionally.



South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee held on 
Thursday, 7 September 2023 at 5.30 p.m. 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Graham Cone – Chair 
  Councillor Stephen Drew – Vice-Chair 
 
Councillors: Anna Bradnam Tom Bygott 
 Libby Earle Sue Ellington 
 Peter Fane James Hobro 
 Helene Leeming Judith Rippeth 
 Richard Stobart Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer 
 
Officers in attendance for all or part of the meeting: 
  

In the Chamber: Farzana Ahmed (Chief Accountant), Gareth Bell 
(Communications and Communities Service Manager), Aaron Clarke 
(Democratic Services Technical Officer), Andrew Francis (Elections and 
Democratic Services Manager), Ian Senior (Scrutiny and Governance 
Adviser), Pippa Turvey (Democratic Services Team Leader), Liz Watts 
(Chief Executive) 
 
Remotely: Peter Campbell (Head of Housing), Bode Esan (Head of 
Climate, Environment & Waste) and Jeff Membery (Head of Transformation, 
HR and Corporate Services) 

 
Councillors Dr. Tumi Hawkins (Lead Cabinet Member for Planning) and John Williams 
(Lead Cabinet Member for Resources) were in attendance, by invitation. 
 
Councillor Bridget Smith (Leader of the Council) was in attendance remotely, by invitation. 
 
1. Chair's announcements 
 
 The Chair made several brief housekeeping announcements. 
  
2. Apologies for absence 
 
 Committee members Councillor Dr. Martin Cahn and Councillor Sally Ann Hart 

sent apologies. 
 
Apologies were also received from Councillor John Batchelor (Lead Cabinet 
Member for Housing) and Councillor Bill Handley (Lead Cabinet Member for 
Communities). 

  
3. Declarations of Interest 
 
 Councillor Richard Stobart declared an interest as a Director of both the South 

Cambridgeshire Investment Partnership LLP and South Cambridgeshire Projects 
LLP.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 7 September 2023 

  
4. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
 The Committee authorised the Chair to sign, as an accurate record, the minutes of 

the meeting held on 8 June 2023 subject to a correction being made to show Peter 
Campbell, Head of Housing, having been present in the Chamber rather than 
remotely. 

  
5. Public Questions and Statements 
 
 There were no public questions. However, tenant representatives on the Housing 

Engagement Board had submitted a written statement relating to Minute 6 (Mutual 
Exchange Policy) and this had been attached to the agenda for Members’ 
information. 

  
6. Mutual Exchange Policy 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee considered a report detailing the role of the 

Housing Engagement Board in reviewing the Council’s Mutual Engagement Policy 
and highlighting three aspects where tenant representatives and Council officers 
had differing opinions: under-occupation, overcrowding and staffing. 

 
The Chair summarised a statement submitted by the tenant representatives.  
 
Committee members considered several issues arising from the report. In 
particular they 
 

 established to their satisfaction that the current and anticipated number of 
mutual exchanges could not justify the employment of an officer dedicated 
to that one activity.  
 

 agreed with the Leader of the Council and the Head of Housing that generic 
multi-skilled Area Housing officers were better placed to understand the 
factors involved in individual cases and would also avoid creating a ‘single 
point of failure.’ Members were assured that Area Housing Officers would 
also be able to detect signs of coercion where mutual exchanges took 
place within South Cambridgeshire and alert their opposite numbers in the 
case of cross-border mutual exchanges. 
 

 Understood that mutual exchanges might result in the Council saving 
money because, while the Council was responsible for ensuring certain 
standards between the end of one tenancy and start of the next, tenants 
themselves were responsible for accepting or refusing the condition of 
mutual exchange properties. 
 

 welcomed the proposed policy’s flexibility and pragmatism in terms of such 
things as increased tenants’ choice and supporting tenants to be close to 
their support networks and noted that, where officers exercised discretion, 
records would be kept to ensure that any perception that discretion was 
being applied unfairly as between different individuals could be 

Page 8



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 7 September 2023 

investigated.   
 

 welcomed the fact that tenant representatives had been involved in the 
review of the policy and that officers had considered their views. 

 
Having considered the issues involved and the statement submitted by the tenant 
representatives on the Housing Engagement Board, and having heard from 
officers and the Leader of the Council in the absence of the Lead Cabinet Member 
for Housing, the Scrutiny and Overview Committee supported by affirmation the 
recommendations to be considered by Cabinet as set out in paragraphs 7 and of 
the officer’s report. 

  
7. Quarter 1 Performance Report 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee considered a report on the Council’s 

Quarter One (Q1) position regarding its operational Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) and 2020-25 Business Plan actions. 
 
In connection with FS117 (Percentage staff turnover) Councillor James Hobro 
noted that the trend was upwards. However, the Head of Transformation, HR and 
Corporate Services assured the Committee that the percentage increase 
represented only a small number of people: there was no cause for concern at this 
stage and the KPI remained well within target. 
 
Recognising the increased public interest in Council performance, Councillor Peter 
Fane highlighted FS104 (collection of Business Rates) and FS105 (collection of 
Council Tax). Councillor John Williams, Lead Cabinet Member for Resources said 
that the method of collecting both taxes meant that Quarter 1 figures gave a 
distorted picture: the outlook remained excellent for end-of-year figures.  
 
Councillor Sue Ellington was happy with ES412 (Kilograms of residual (black bin) 
waste per household (year to date)) but asked how the Council intended to reduce 
the amount of residual waste. The Head of Climate, Waste and Environment said 
that, in the short term, the emphasis would be on encouraging behavioural change 
but added that, looking further ahead, other measures might be considered. 
Councillor John Williams emphasised the importance of maximising recycling 
rates.  
 
For some time now, Scrutiny and Overview Committee members had been asking 
whether the target for AH211 (Average days to re-let all housing stock) was 
realistic. The Vice-Chair drew Members’ attention to what he described as an 
incredible performance in reducing re-let time by 42% in just three months.  
 
Councillor Anna Bradnam was pleased to see the new KPI AH245 (Percentage of 
South Cambridgeshire District Council homes with active Housing Health & Safety 
Rating Categories 1 or 2 damp and mould cases). Noting officers’ pro-active 
approach, Councillor Bradnam welcomed the fact that the Council had recognised 
the risk caused by damp and mould and was taking steps to address it. 
 
Councillor Richard Stobart referred to progress against the Business Plan (We will 

Page 9



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 7 September 2023 

create and implement planning policies that address climate and ecological 
emergencies (including working towards net zero by 2050). The Committee noted 
the Leader of the Council’s determination that the Cabinet would work with Parish 
and Town Councils and others to overcome the challenges faced in achieving the 
objective of biodiversity net gain. 
 
Following further discussion about recycling rates and having reviewed the KPI 
results and comments at Appendix A to the report and progress in delivering the 
2023-24 Business Plan outputs at Appendix B, the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee approved by affirmation the presentation of the Quarter 1 Performance 
Report to Cabinet on 28 September 2023. 

  
8. Final report from the Young People Task & Finish Group 
 
 The Scrutiny and Overview Committee considered the final report and 

recommendations from the Young People Task & Finish Group. 
 
Councillor Richard Stobart, Chair of the Task & Finish Group, introduced the report 
describing the outcome of 12 months’ investigation into the aspiration of young 
people in South Cambridgeshire as a ‘call to action.’ Councillor Stobart 
commended the way in which youth engagement had been championed by the 
Greater Cambridge Shared Planning Service and said this should function as a 
model for other Council service areas. He highlighted communication as crucial in 
understanding how young people perceived the world they lived in and the issues 
that directly affected them.  
 
Councillor Graham Cone, Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee, and 
Councillor Helene Leeming who had both been members of the Task & Finish 
Group thanked Councillor Stobart for the way in which he had led the Group and 
dealt with various challenges that had been met along the way.  
 
Referring to paragraph 15 of the report, Councillor Peter Fane said that the work 
conducted during the past year should be seen as the start of an ongoing process 
aiming to seize long-term opportunities through setting up a more formal structure 
for engagement. 
 
The penultimate bullet point in paragraph 3 recommended that Cabinet should 
instruct officers to incorporate into an updated Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) a specific and easily understood statement of intent relating to 
young people. This had already been done and this recommendation therefore 
was disregarded. The Deputy Director of Planning and Building Quality referred 
Members to an SCI Toolkit that might prove useful in the future. 
 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee endorsed the final report of the Young 
People Task & Finish Group and, subject to deletion of the recommendation 
relating to the Statement of Community Involvement, recommended that Cabinet 
endorses the investigation carried out by the Young People Task & Finish Group 
and recommends that Full Council: 
 

 instructs officers to share the general feedback received from young 

Page 10



Scrutiny and Overview Committee Thursday, 7 September 2023 

people during the Task & Finish Group’s work with local authorities and 
educational providers so they can take this into account when providing 
their services.  

 

 notes the successful youth engagement programme currently run by the 
Greater Cambridge Shared Planning Service and supports the provision of 
appropriate coaching to enable officers in other priority areas such as 
housing and local business to find ways of similarly involving young people.  

 

 Instructs officers to investigate the feasibility of holding, within the next 
12 months, a scheduled meeting of the Climate and Environment Advisory 
Committee at a local educational establishment, to which students and 
other young people should be invited. 

 

 asks officers to write a letter to the Mayor of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority highlighting the feedback from young 
people on the limitations of public transport and urging him to take into 
account their views when developing proposals for bus franchising.  

 

 invites young people, including from the groups approached as part of 
the Task & Finish exercise (Appendix 1), to contribute evidence to officers 
involved in developing a new Equality Policy embracing generational 
differences. 

 

 encourages all Members of South Cambridgeshire District Council to 
commit to engaging with young people and representative organisations in 
their wards by establishing regular visits to local schools, colleges, youth 
clubs and other locations as appropriate. In the longer term, a more 
structured form of dialogue might be appropriate. 

  
9. Work Programme 
 
 Members noted the scrutiny work programme attached to the agenda. 
  
10. To Note the Date of the next meeting 
 
 Members noted that the next scheduled Scrutiny and Overview Committee 

meeting would be on Thursday 19 October 2023 starting at 5.30pm. 
  

  
The Meeting ended at 7.50 p.m. 

 

 

Page 11



This page is left blank intentionally.



 
 
 
 
 
  

Report to: 
 

Scrutiny and Overview Committee       19 October 2023 

Lead Cabinet Member: 
 

Cllr Bill Handley (Lead Cabinet Member for Communities) 
 

Lead Officer: 
 

Anne Ainsworth (Chief Operating Officer) 

 

 
 

Northstowe – Community Facilities Update 

 

Executive Summary 
 

1. This report provides an update on planning and delivery of community facilities 
at Northstowe. 
 

2. The report recommends that Scrutiny and Overview Committee notes the 
progress towards delivery of the community facilities at Northstowe, 
acknowledging the additional investment provided by South Cambridgeshire 
District Council (SCDC) and the Shared Prosperity Fund that has been 
required to deliver this provision. 

 
3. The report also outlines how lessons learned from other sites have informed 

the phasing and delivery of community facilities at Northstowe.  

Key Decision 

4. No. There is no key decision. 

Recommendations 

5. The report asks the committee to note the following:  
 
(i) The headline delivery timeline for the key community buildings the 

district council became obliged to deliver at Northstowe. 
. 

(ii) The benefit of appropriately phased delivery of key community 
infrastructure.  

 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

6. Background 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

7. Master developers of Phase 1 (L&Q, formerly Gallagher Estates Longstanton 
Ltd) and Phase 2 and 3 Northstowe (Homes England) have been obliged to 
deliver comprehensive community infrastructure either by condition or through 
the respective s106 developer contribution agreements associated with each 
phase of development. 

 
8. Unusually the Section 106 agreement for Northstowe allowed the Master 

Developers to pass responsibility for building the Community Buildings to the 
District Council  

 

9. As a consequence, in Phase 1, where L&Q are the master developers, the 
District Council was passed the responsibility of building both Phase 1 
Community Centre and the Phase 1 Sports Pavilion. The Council was 
provided a financial contribution by L&Q that formed part of the Section 106 
agreement  

 
10. Similarly, in Phase 2 where Homes England are the master developer, the 

Council now has responsibility for delivering both the Civic Hub, to be built 
within the town centre, and the Phase 2 Sports Pavilion in the Eastern Sports 
Hub. Again, the developer has provided a financial contribution as per the 
Section 106 agreement. 
 

11. Funding provided by the respective Section 106 agreements is insufficient to 
build these facilities to the required specification. Council agreed in July 2022 
to provide additional funding to meet the shortfall needed to create sustainable 
facilities to the required standard and this has been further supplemented by 
an allocation from the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined 
Authority’s Shared Prosperity Fund.  

 

12. In addition, the Council has brought forward a temporary community centre in 
Phase 1, to bridge a gap in provision following closure of the Community Wing 
at Pathfinder Primary School and the opening of the Phase 1 Community 
Building in the Local Centre. 

 
13. The Council has acquired the Phase 1 Local Centre and Enterprise Zone and 

has made progress towards developing a coherent master plan for this area to 
bring forward a vibrant employment quarter, the first element of which will be 
delivery of the Permanent Phase 1 Community Centre, the subject of a live 
planning application (23/03248/REM). 

 
 

The Phase 1 Sports Pavilion 
 

14. The Phase 1 Sports Pavilion and car park is constructed on land that 
transferred to the district council from L&Q. The freehold of the sports pitches 
(including the bowling green) that it supports are set to transfer to SCDC 
following a decision to acquire the land. This will allow the unification of the 
pavilion and pitches to form a single viable, operational unit. 

 

Page 14



15. The Phase 1 Sports Pavilion is designed to Sport England, FA and RFU 
standards, and provides over 950square meters of space, including a large 
multi-use clubroom; commercial kitchen and servery; changing places facility; 
WCs; 6 player changing rooms, and 2 officials changing rooms. 
 

16. The pavilion is exceptionally energy efficient. As well as being designed to 
minimise heat-loss, it also benefits from additional carbon-reducing technology 
including air-source heat pumps, solar PV panels, and a waste-water heat-
recovery system. Externally, the pavilion site also provides charging points for 
electric vehicles. 
 

17. The pavilion and car park has been constructed by Pentaco, from whom the 
Council expects to accept Practical Completion   week commencing 9th 
October.  

 
18. Since the pavilion construction has been undertaken by SCDC, the Council 

has led on determining the most appropriate governance approach and, with 
the agreement of the local community, has opted to outsource the operation 
toa specialist sports provider. 
 

19. SCDC undertook a full procurement process to secure a sports specialist to 
operate the pavilion and sports pitches. The leasehold of the land and 
buildings will be offered to the operator, who will keep any profit generated 
(less contribution to a sinking fund to be used when facilities need to be 
updated) but is required to undertake management and maintenance 
responsibilities as set out in Appendix B. 

 

20. Elite Sports UK has been awarded the contract and they will be required to 
operate the facility in line with the detailed specification which formed part of 
the Invitation to Tender (which was devised with the benefit of advice from 
Strategic Leisure Ltd). There will be an on-site presence from the operator and 
the provision to make bookings on-line via an App or in person. The provider 
is currently recruiting locally to build its delivery team. Depending on the speed 
of recruitment, the operator expects to open the facility by the end of October; 
they plan to fully mobilise at the earliest point possible, to capture bookings for 
the Artificial Turf Pitch over the winter months. Their business model relies on 
supporting the growth of local teams, rather than a dependency on attracting 
larger commercial operators, which draw from a wider geography. This 
approach should contribute to the development of a vibrant sporting culture in 
Northstowe, building on the work of the Sport England Active New 
Communities programme which provided seed funding and support to 
establish a number of sports groups. Northstowe Sports and Wellbeing Group 
provides a broad representation of these pre-existing sports groups and will be 
key to ensuring these groups liaise effectively with the management of the 
facility, see paragraph 21. 
 

21. Longstanton Bowls Club is to provide management and maintenance of the 
bowling green (with the benefit from a licence agreement with SCDC). This 
relocation has the support of its current membership and they have plans to 
extend their membership further within Northstowe and plan a programme of 

Page 15



multi-general activities to promote the sports of bowls to a younger 
demographic. 
 

22. A management board, involving SCDC, Northstowe Town Council, 
Longstanton Bowls Club and Northstowe Sports and Wellbeing Group has 
been established via a Memorandum of Understanding, thus providing 
community involvement in oversight of the operator and bringing together all 
those with an interest in its effective operation. 
 
The Temporary Community Centre, Phase 1 
 

23. In March 2023 the Council’s New Build team, working with consultants AR 
Urbanism, secured planning permission for a temporary community centre 
located in the Phase 1 Local Centre. Working closely with supplier, 
Portakabin, the Council managed to ensure that the centre was open only 4 
months after the grant of planning permission. The building, which is rented. 
has planning permission for three-years, within which period the permanent 
community building is expected to be delivered. 
 

24. The Council opened the temporary community centre in July 2023. In addition 
to rentable space for a wide variety of community led activities, the facility 
provides touchdown space for SCDC officers, including Northstowe 
Community Development Officers, the Northstowe Town Council offices and 
accommodates a variety of statutory services, including Child and Family 
Centre services, Health Visitor, baby weigh clinics and Midwifery services. 

 

25. The Council has leased an office to the Town Council and offers other 
statutory providers guaranteed space through licence agreements. Community 
bookings can be made online, with all information provided via a dedicated 
webpage,  Temporary Community Centre - South Cambs District Council 
(scambs.gov.uk) with availability and programmed activity advertised by way of a 
Google Calendar.  

 
26. The Temporary Community Centre is governed by a Management Board, formed as 

a result of a Memorandum of Understanding between the district council, Northstowe 
Town Council and Northstowe Hub.  

 

The Permanent Community Centre, Phase 1  

 

27. The master developers of Phase 1, L&Q, passed the responsibility for building 

the Community Centre to the Council, and this was to be on a piece of land 

identified by L&Q within the local centre.  However, the purchase of the local 

centre and Enterprise zone by the District Council in March 2021 allowed the 

Council to masterplan the wider area, which involved relocating the community 

centre to a more prominent area of the site.  

 

28. A Planning Application for the permanent community centre was submitted in 

September 2023 and is a currently in the determination period.  Details of the 

application can be seen on the Greater Cambridge Share Planning website. 

Page 16

https://www.scambs.gov.uk/community-development/northstowe-community-wing/
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/community-development/northstowe-community-wing/
https://applications.greatercambridgeplanning.org/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RZUHQADXKKB00


As SCDC are both the applicant and the Local Planning Authority the decision 

whether to grant planning permission will be made by SCDC Planning 

Committee.  

 

29. The Council has worked hard to ensure Northstowe residents have had 

significant input into the design of the permanent community building. This has 

been via online discussions, drop-in events at the Northstowe Community 

Forum which the Council runs, presentations and a workshop with local young 

people. 

 

30. The plans for the permanent community centre include the following spaces 

and their potential uses: 
 

 A main hall - A large multi-purpose hall for formal and informal events; public 

assembly, visual and performing arts, practice and tuition, lectures, and 

demonstrations. 

 Foyer / café - An informal community gathering space, serving hot drinks and 

snacks, for waiting, meeting, and greeting. 

 Kitchens - To serve the main hall and café. 

 Community support space. 

 A base for staff, Town Council offices, reception and booking point. 

 Consultation / meeting rooms – multi-purpose spaces for meetings and 

groups, visiting community workers, including police, and potentially NHS 

services. 

 Community co-working / shared space - A space for community book share / 

swap-shop and co-working, including a computer area. 

 Flexible activity space - A robust ‘make space’ for arts and crafts, workshops 

or other potentially messy or noisy activities, connected to the secure 

courtyard garden. 

 Storage 

 Toilets including a changing places facility. 

 A safe and secure outdoor space. 

 

31. The planning application proposes that the centre is built using Passivhaus 

principles, which means it has very high standards of insulation and air 

tightness, reducing energy demand. Solar panels and ground source heat 

pumps are included to provide on-site renewable energy generation. 

 

32. It is expected that most residents walk or cycle to the permanent community 

centre, so 70 bicycle parking spaces are included, along with equipment for 

four electric vehicle charging spaces and other necessary car parking. 
 

33. The building plans also feature green roofs, flowers, plants and hedges, solar 

panels, integrated bird / bat boxes, deadwood features and a bee house. 

Combined, this has helped to achieve a Biodiversity Net Gain of 19% on the 

planning application, as part of the Council’s commitment to enhancing nature 

and Net Zero. 

Page 17



 

34. Subject to planning permission being granted, the Council will then seek to 

appoint a construction partner to deliver the building.  It is intended that the 

permanent building will be available for use and occupation before the end of 

the temporary building’s 3-year temporary permission.  

 

35. The Council will work with local representatives and likely users of the building 

to develop suitable management and governance arrangements well ahead of 

the opening of the building.  

 

The Civic Hub 

 

36. The proposed Civic Hub will be the largest of the Northstowe Community 

Buildings, and will be in Northstowe Town Centre, this is Phase 2 on the 

Northstowe Development where Homes England are the master developers.  

 

37. The building will house a wide range of services including a library, health 

provision and a range of other services.  It has been described as a 

‘Department Store for Life’.  

 

38. The building will be around 5,000 square metres, spread over several floors.  

It will be designed to be highly flexible location with a range of community and 

civic functions.  

 

39. The exact location of the building has not yet been agreed with Homes 

England, which means that detailed designs are not yet available.  However, a 

steering group included the Council, County Council, Health and the Town 

Council has recently been established to oversee the process.  Other groups 

will be set up with key stakeholders to consider, operational and governance 

issues and well as progressing the design.    

 

The Phase 2 Sports Pavilion 

 

40. Homes England have also passed the responsibility to deliver the Phase 2 

sports pavilion to SCDC. This pavilion will be slightly smaller than that in 

Phase 1, measuring around 630square meters, though will serve many of the 

same functions. 

 

41. Where the Phase 1 pavilion focuses primarily on rugby and football uses, the 

Phase 2 pavilion will be designed to respond to the pitches on the Eastern 

Sports Hub, which focuses on cricket usage. 

 

42. Homes England have submitted a planning application for the groundworks 
associated with the design of the Eastern Sports Hub pitches 
(23/03209/REM). SCDC New Build and Communities Teams are working 

Page 18



closely with the master developer to ensure these designs meet the needs of 
the community and ensure the best conditions for the future design of the 
pavilion building. 
 

43. The trigger for the Land Transfer to SCDC for the construction of the pavilion 

is no later than 500 occupied new dwellings on Phase 2 after which SCDC 

have 18months to reasonably endeavour to construct the facility.  

 

Other Activities.  

 

- Enterprise Zone 

 

44. In March 2021 South Cambridgeshire District Council acquired 11.19 gross 

acres of enterprise zone land at Northstowe. The Council is currently 

purchasing the remaining parcel of Enterprise Zone land which was previously 

identified as a Household Waste Recycling Centre. Cambridgeshire County 

Council has confirmed this is being provided elsewhere and is not required at 

the town. This additional investment would take the total to 15.22 acres. This 

purchase will give the council ownership of the entire Enterprise Zone along 

with the adjacent Local Centre to deliver a project across the site.  

 

45.  SCDC is developing a masterplan for the site, based on several 

‘fundamentals’ that are important for future development. These are:  

 

 Prioritise connectivity to the wider Northstowe community and the Guided 

Busway.   

 Green and blue infrastructure.  

 Sustainable performance of buildings targeting net zero sustainable 

performance.  

 High quality public realm and connections.  

 Successful integration with the wider Northstowe community  

 

46. The Council is testing the market with preliminary talks with major developers 

and businesses with a view to gain insight into how best to deliver this site. 

Future reports will be presented to members on this subject. 

 

- New Council Housing 

 

47. SCDC Housing have been successful in securing the s106 homes on 

Northstowe Phase 2B (Keepmoat) and also on the site known as “Endeavour 

Estates” which sits within the Northstowe Ward but outside of the Masterplan 

area. 

 

Page 19



48. Together these sites will provide 103 new council houses – 90 for affordable 

rent and 13 for shared ownership.  The New Build Team will ‘bid’ for other 

properties in line with the Councils New Build Strategy.  

 

49. SCDC Housing will also be the beneficiaries of the Northstowe Starter Homes 

which will ensure long term investment in housing in Northstowe.  

 
 

- Community Development 

 

50. The section 106 agreements provide funding for Community Development 

Officers. These officers are employed by the Council and their role is to help 

build a sense of community at Northstowe by working with the Town Council 

and local groups to establish networks, groups and activities. 

 

51. Although not a physical community building, the Community Development 

Officers in the Communities Team have helped to support the establishment 

of the allotments at the town and an allotment society to organise the ongoing 

management of this locally. This has successfully brought the community 

together and provides opportunities to improve health and wellbeing. 

 

52. The officers have supported the initiation of a network of groups at the town 

that range from arts and faith groups to sport and recreation. As the town 

grows the officers will continue to support this as the communities needs 

change. 

 

53. The team currently manage the day-to-day operation of the temporary 

community centre, including ensuring the governance gives the opportunity for 

the community to be involved and have previously overseen the running of the 

Community Wing at Pathfinder Primary school that provided a community 

building for community activity when the first residents moved in.  

Implications 

 

54. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk, 
equality and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following 
implications have been considered: - 

Financial 

55. Not from this report.  The financial implications have previously been reported 
to Council in July 2022 

Page 20



Staffing 

56. Not directly 
 

Risks/Opportunities 
 

57. Not from this report.  These risks and opportunities were reported to Council in 
July 2022 and the Council maintains an ongoing risk register.  

 

Equality and Diversity 

58. Not from this report.  However, the community buildings specifications have   
disabled-adapted facilities including Changing Spaces. This ensures access 
for all and encourages inclusivity.  

Climate Change 

59. Not from this report.  However, design decisions made with regard to the 

heating, cooling, and ventilation of the sports pavilion and integration of 

renewable technologies, including air-source heating, solar pv, waste-water 

heat recovery and increased air-tightness levels will reduce carbon emissions 

as well as helping to achieve long-term financial sustainability of the combined 

facility. Similar standards are included in the planning application for the 

submitted plans for the permanent community centre, and future buildings 

delivered by the Council.  

Health & Wellbeing 

60. Not from this report.  However, as with any new development, many people 
moving to the town will be forming new social circles and creating links that 
will support positive health and wellbeing outcomes. Good quality community 
spaces and sports provision will play a key role to ensure a sense of 
community and a place to meet and improve opportunities for integration with 
surrounding communities. 

Consultation responses 

61. The has been no specific consultation on this progress report.  However, there 
has been extensive consultation undertaken on the Community buildings, and 
this will continue with the building that have not yet been completed.  
Examples of consultation include. 
 

 Pre-planning consultations for the Phase 1 sports pavilion were carried out 
with Cambridgeshire FA, Cambridgeshire RFU, Longstanton Parish Council 
and Meridian Trust. Early designs were presented at the Northstowe 
Community Forum and Drop-in. This was all undertaken in anticipation of the 

Page 21



resulting facility becoming a single operational unit with the sports pitches, 
which it is designed to serve. 
 

 Full statutory consultation on the Phase 1 sports pavilion was undertaken as 
part of the planning process. 

 
 A range of community and public service partners were consulted on the 

design of the temporary community centre and a full statutory consultation 
was undertaken as part of the planning process. 
 

 A range of community and public service partners were consulted on the 
design of the Permanent Phase 1 community centre and a full statutory 
consultation has recently been undertaken as part of the planning process, 
with the application yet to be determined. 

Alignment with Council Priority Areas 

Growing local businesses and economies 

62. Outsourcing the management and maintenance of the Western Park sports 
facilities will afford business opportunities to local contractors and sub-
contractors in the leisure market.  

Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in 

63. SCDC’s Asset Management Strategy recognises that as a housing provider 
we are about more than just bricks and mortar – that we look to build 
communities that can thrive and grow. Our Business Plan 2020-25 reflects this 
and commits to delivering in Northstowe the community facilities that will 
support housing delivery, including the phase 1 sports pavilion and community 
centre, and the phase 2 civic hub and pavilion. 

Being green to our core 

64. SCDC’S Business Plan 2020-25 commits to identifying and delivering 
opportunities to reduce carbon emissions from our estate. The designs for the 
Community Buildings account for the use of renewable technologies. 

Background Papers 

 Report to Cabinet: Northstowe Phase 1 – Section 106 Funding: February 2014 

 Report to Cabinet: Northstowe Phase 2 – Community Infrastructure Delivery & 
Requirements: July 2015 

 Report to Cabinet: Northstowe – Update and Recommendations July 2022 

 Report to Council: Northstowe – Update and Recommendations July 2022 

Page 22



Appendices 

Appendix : Plan of Management and Maintenance responsibilities, Western Park 

Report Author:  

Anne Ainsworth – Chief Operating Officer 
Telephone: (01954) 712920 

Page 23



This page is left blank intentionally.



Scale:

Date:

Produced by: Spatial Team

Western Park

/

28 June 2023

@ A41:3,000

3

H
attons Farm

Track

C
ottages

Track

6

16

18

85

PEPPERCORN DRIVE

61

Pond

Drain

Pum
p

H
ouse

El S
ub Sta

Play Area

11

Prim
ary 

Sch
ool

Hatto
n P

ark

50a

50b

39a

39b

33

50

48

51

46

Pond

43

41

39

28

22

17

16

11

8

3

1

1

39

27

28

33

38

36

26

2

1

3

6

10

14

7

13

79

68

73

37

56

3

2

1

Gas Governor

TH
O

R
N

H
ILL PLAC

E

H
ATTO

N
'S PAR

K

El S
ub S

ta

Shelte
r

HIG
H STREET

10
0

87

C
LO

S
E

P
R

E
N

T
IC

E

24

2

THORNHILL P
LACE

36

34

Pond

9

57

62

25

21

23

FB

10

14

Pond

Pat
h

37

27

57

Drain

55

71

75

Sports Facility

Allotment Gardens

47

20

69

Pond

67

D
rain

51

38

D
rain

39

VOLE CLOSE

5

2

12

14

71
78

74

84

89

M
A

G
D

A
LE

N
E

 C
LO

S
E

53

M
IS

TLE
 TH

R
U

S
H

 D
R

IV
E

1

9
17

15

The Pathfinder

Church of England

Primary School

Play Area

29

27

13

17

21

4

25

11

2

83

12

2

77

3

4

1

85

9

20

67

3

75

10

1

2

13

GREEN LANE

15

4

74

10
0

66

10
6

65

MAGPIE DRIVE

57

2

1

16

98

55

51

70

64

72

60

W
E

LLIN
G

TO
N

 R
O

A
D

58

46

48

41

52

84

96

54

82

37

31

42

37

78

40

27

5

54
 to

 6
6

M
IS

TLE
 TH

R
U

S
H

 D
R

IV
E

90

7

38

52

24

1

2

46

23

30

KINGFISHER CLOSE

22

21

19

20

W
E

LLIN
G

TO
N

 R
O

A
D

Play Area

48

30

40

M
AG

D
ALEN

E C
LO

SE

24

69

55

61

38

49

35

1

36

El

Sub Sta23

47

36

24

11

7

30

Bowling
green

Artificial
turf pitchMini

football
pitches

Rugby and
football
pitches

MUGA

Car park

Pavilion
Access

(c) Crown copyright and database right 2023. Ordnance Survey Licence No. AC0000810824.

Accessway: L&Q management and maintenance responsibility

Artificial turf pitch: management and maintenance of playing turf and fence, operator’s responsibility (shock pads
and sub-layers, SCDC maintenance responsibility)

Bowling green, including fence, maintenance responsibility of Longsanton Bowls Club

Car Park: general maintenance, cleaning and management, operator responsibility (EV charge points, relining and
surface repairs, SCDC responsibility)

Mini football pitches, rugby and football pitches: management and maintenance operator’s responsibility

Pavilion: full management and maintenance, internal and external, including hard and soft landscaping, operator’s
responsibility

MUGA, including fence and adjacent shipping container (for equipment storage): management and maintenance
operator’s responsibility

All other areas in the Western Park (bar the allotment and orchard land), maintenance responsibility of L&Q/
Greenbelt

Page 25



This page is left blank intentionally.



 
  

Report to: 
 

Scrutiny & Overview Committee              19 October 2023 

Lead Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Bill Handley (Lead Cabinet Member for 
Communities) 
 

Lead Officer: 
 

Liz Watts – Chief Executive Officer 

 

 
 

Cost of Living Update 

Executive Summary 

1. To review the attached draft Cabinet report. 

Recommendation and Reason 

2. The Scrutiny and Overview Committee is requested to comment and provide 
feedback on the progress of all projects, to note and endorse the reason for the 
recommendation to Cabinet and to make its own recommendations to Cabinet 
where appropriate and where they add value to the process. 

 

Appendix 

Appendix 1: Draft report to Cabinet on 7 November 2023 including appendices  

Report Author:  

Ian Senior – Scrutiny and Governance Adviser 
Telephone: 01954 713028 

 
 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Report to: 
 

Cabinet                               7 November 2023 

Lead Cabinet Member: 
 

Cllr Bill Handley, Lead Cabinet Member for 
Communities 
 

Lead Officer: 
 

Liz Watts, Chief Executive Officer 

 

 
 

Cost-of-living support update 

Executive Summary 

1. This report provides an update on the cost-of-living related schemes agreed at 
Cabinet on 20 March 2023 along with an evaluation of the earlier work 
undertaken during the first phase of this project, from 14 November 2022 to 31 
March 2023. 
 

Key Decision 

2. No. 
 

Recommendations 

3. It is recommended that Cabinet notes the report and appendices A to C, and 
provides officers with any comments as required. 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 

4. To ensure the Council’s management and members understand the progress 
being made throughout the cost-of-living response programme and have an 
opportunity to provide feedback/suggestions for future work. 
 

Details 

Background 
 

 

Page 29



 

5. The Council declared a cost-of-living crisis at its September 2022 Council 
meeting. Following this, an initial package of support was agreed by Cabinet on 
14 November 2022, utilising a grant from the Integrated Care Board (ICB). This 
package focussed on ‘heating and health’, supporting projects such as Warm 
Hubs, and the provision of lower cost methods of heating and cooking at home. 
The first phase of the project came to an end on 31 March 2023. 

 
6. Following agreement by Cabinet on 20 March 2023, the Council entered the 

second phase of its cost-of-living crisis response. The recommendations aimed to 
create self-sustaining projects that could continue beyond initial funding and 
provide support to residents across the district experiencing hardship. Nine 
projects were recommended and a budget of £206,000 was assigned. 

 

Phase 1 evaluation 

7. A full evaluation report of phase one of this work has been undertaken and is 
attached as Appendix A. Some key points from the full evaluation are outlined 
below. 

 
8. An online fundraiser was set up to allow residents and businesses to provide 

additional support to supplement the Council’s efforts during the cost-of-living 
crisis. Online donations raised over £2,000 to support the provision of extra 
energy-saving appliances. 

 
9. Over 400 people were provided with either an electric blanket, a slow cooker, or 

in most cases both. These were prioritised using Council data to identify those 
likely to be most in need. Following feedback from 103 of these residents, over 
85% of respondents said they had noticed at least some difference in their energy 
bills because of receiving and using the slow cooker. In addition, we estimate that 
the average electric blanket recipient saved £29.61 per week on their central 
heating bill if they used their electric blanket for warmth instead. Over January to 
March, this would have resulted in a saving of £384.93 per household. 
Furthermore, the anecdotal feedback received for both products was extremely 
positive, with full feedback comments outlined in Appendix A. 

 
10. In total across South Cambridgeshire, 25 Warm Hubs were in operation for a 

combined total of 2,942 hours. They utilised 101 volunteers who were mostly local 
to that community. Across all 25 Hubs, there were a total of 9,363 attendee visits 
from October 2022 to March 2023. An external evaluation took place for this 
project, attached at Appendix B. According to Rose Regeneration who were 
commissioned by Cambridgeshire ACRE to undertake the evaluation, for every 
£1 invested in them, the Warm Hubs delivered £4.19 of social value. 

 
11. 100 Warm Packs containing a blanket, hot water bottle, thermos flask, thermal 

socks, a hat, and gloves were distributed by South Cambridgeshire District 
Council (SCDC) officers who were in contact with residents requiring extra 
support. Having Warm Packs on hand provided an extra bit of support that 

Page 30



 

officers were able to provide to residents struggling with fuel poverty and the cost-
of-living crisis. 

 

Phase 2 update 

12. Cost-of-living crisis response strategy – Project plans for the delivery of the 
initiatives agreed at Cabinet on 23 March have been created. This includes a 
timeline for each project, and the progress of each project against its timeline can 
be found in paragraph 22. Officers are also working closely with officers at 
Cambridgeshire County Council to help develop a County-wide anti-poverty 
strategy to ensure the work being carried out at different organisations is 
complementary. 

 
13.  Roadshow of cost-of-living talks - A talk outlining help available during the 

cost-of-living crisis has been written and is due to be trialled at its first Parish 
Council meeting. It includes support available from central Government, local 
financial support, food-related support, financial advice, and community support. 
Should the talk be successful and useful to the Parish, it will be offered to further 
Parish Councils and Community Groups, encouraging people to apply for all 
support they are eligible for. 

 
Officers have also begun to offer a short training to community volunteers 
outlining cost-of-living support available so they can pass this information on to 
any residents they already work with.  

 
14.  Evolution of Warm Hubs into Community Hubs - Following the successful 

implementation of the Warm Hubs project from October 2022 to March 2023, 
many of the Warm Hubs have now evolved into Community Hubs. A Community 
Hub is a space where other services or activities may be delivered locally, whilst 
people can also access further support, where needed, through the cost-of-living 
crisis to ensure their health and wellbeing is maintained and improved. There are 
13 hubs that are continuing to operate. These are based in Caldecote, 
Cambourne, Comberton, Gamlingay (x2), Grantchester, Hardwick, Landbeach, 
Melbourn, Meldreth, Northstowe, Willingham, and Sawston (though these may 
change in the course of developing phase 2 of the work). The majority of the 
funding for continuing these hubs will be drawn from a further grant from the ICB 
received in April 2023. This funding will also cover the employment of 3 ‘Village 
Agents’ who will support volunteers and link health and wellbeing service 
providers to Community Hubs to ensure that a physical space can be allocated to 
outreach sessions. The Community Hubs will continue to be run by 
Cambridgeshire ACRE who have been awarded a two-year contract to continue 
their provision.  

 
The 13 Community Hubs that have remained open received 11,216 visits from 
April to July. In the previous four-month period from December to March, the 
comparative figure was 8,726 visits, highlighting the continued increase in visitor 
numbers as they become further embedded into their communities. 

 

Page 31



 

15. Provision of energy saving appliances - 500 electric blankets will be provided 
to South Cambridgeshire residents struggling with the high cost of energy this 
winter. The blankets will be targeted at people claiming Attendance Allowance or 
a certain level of Personal Independence Payment who are also receiving Council 
Tax Support. This is a group of people who have a long-term physical health 
condition or disability and are also feeling financial pressures. Any remaining 
stock after targeting this cohort of people will be distributed by Council officers 
that work with vulnerable residents.  

 
All eligible residents will be sent a letter by the end of October. 

 
16. Council Tax Support Campaign - A new leaflet focussing on Council Tax 

Support, and other areas of support, has been designed and distributed, and can 
be found under Appendix C. This leaflet was distributed with every Council Tax 
payment reminder to ensure that those who couldn’t pay and were eligible for 
support were made aware of all the help available. In addition, the leaflet has 
been distributed to a number of Community Groups and Libraries across the 
district, including at Gypsy, Romany, and Traveller drop-in sessions, as well as 
being distributed online and on social media. The leaflet will continue to be used 
over winter at various outreach events and can be provided to Community 
Groups, Members or Parishes. 

 
17. South Cambridgeshire Sustainable Food Network – Officers have been 

working to bring together and develop a Sustainable Food Network. Officers have 
contacted every known foodbank in the South Cambridgeshire District. In July, 
the first networking meeting of all these foodbanks took place where introductions 
were made, and discussions took place on how to work together and what the 
Council can offer them in ways of support. One area of support that emerged from 
this meeting was the desire to have drop-in advice sessions at a number of 
foodbanks to ensure that those attending foodbanks have access to a wider 
range of wrap-around support. Since then, Income Maximisation Officers at the 
Council have been attending Harston Food Hub, in addition to the outreach 
sessions already run by Citizens Advice Cambridge at Northstowe Foodbank, 
funded by Cambridge City Foodbank. The network has agreed to continue 
meeting quarterly. 

 
A messaging platform containing all known Foodbanks in South Cambridgeshire 
has also been set up to ensure that no food goes to waste if any foodbank has a 
surplus. This has already been used to distribute food between the foodbanks 
and it is hoped this can provide a benefit to the community by not only providing 
foodbanks with extra food, but also by combatting food waste to help achieve our 
climate goals. There are also plans to run a campaign encouraging more 
businesses to donate their excess food to foodbanks. 
 

18. New Foodbanks - Following the commitment to set up 5 new foodbanks made at 
Cabinet on 23 March 2023, officers developed an innovative approach to make 
this happen as soon as possible with the launch of the Mobile Food Hub. In 
partnership with Hope CIC, a scheme was devised whereby a van is filled with 

Page 32



 

food and visits different locations on different days of the week. Food storage is 
often the biggest barrier to starting a foodbank, so centralising this overcame that 
problem. Since its launch at the end of June, the Mobile Food Hub has begun to 
visit 6 locations: Orchard Park, Papworth, Fulbourn, Linton, Duxford, and 
Shepreth. All these locations (with the exception of Shepreth) were selected using 
census deprivation data, mapped against where current foodbanks already 
operate to ensure that the Mobile Food Hub helps bridge the gap between 
existing services. Shepreth Parish Council approached SCDC to open a stop in 
Shepreth, and this has commenced with the financial support of Shepreth Parish 
Council and Shepreth Relief in Need. It is hoped that as the project progresses, 
more families can be supported, and more locations can be visited. Additional 
stops will require additional financial support from each Town or Parish Council, 
as is the case in Shepreth, to ensure the project’s longevity. For the existing 
stops, plans are in place to recruit local volunteers to decrease reliance on Hope 
CIC, and eventually transition to a regular, locally run, community scheme to 
enable the mobile scheme to continue to expand and reach areas of the district 
where there is limited support. No referral is needed to use the mobile food hub 
and residents can just turn up on the day it is near them. 
 
Since the Mobile Food Hub started at the end of June, it has supported 217 
individuals, with many visiting more than once. This number has been 
consistently growing since its inception and is anticipated to rise further over the 
coming months, especially as we approach winter. 

 
19. Community vegetable gardens - Planning work will begin on this project over 

the winter. It is anticipated that the project will help create new vegetable gardens, 
while improving existing ones, and encourage more donations of fresh food to 
those in need through South Cambridgeshire’s developing foodbank network.   
 

20. Provision of food parcels - The Council continues to provide free food parcels 
containing a week’s worth of food to residents who either cannot travel to their 
nearest foodbank or need food in an emergency. The parcels are delivered within 
48 hours and are used as a last resort. They can only be accessed through a 
referral by a SCDC officer or volunteers at one of our 13 Community Hubs across 
the district. 107 food parcels have been delivered since the scheme began in 
January 2023, and will continue through the current year, with 80.7% of these 
parcels having been to women. 

 
21. Data analysis - A cross-departmental group has been established to further 

study how the Council can better use data to target areas of support. An example 
of this already in action is that all the Mobile Food Hub locations were selected 
using available deprivation data, mapped against where current foodbanks 
operate. Work on this project will continue through the whole two-year cost-of-
living programme. 

 
22.  Summary of project progress 

 

Page 33



 

Project Planned delivery date Progress 
summary 

Cost-of-living crisis response 
strategy 

May 2023 Complete 

Roadshow of cost-of-living talks October 2023 – March 2024 On track 

Evolution of Warm Hubs into 
Community Hubs 

September 2023 and 
ongoing 

Complete – 
provision ongoing 

Provision of energy saving 
appliances 

October 2023 - March 2024 On track 

Council Tax Support Campaign June 2023 and ongoing On track 

South Cambridgeshire 
Sustainable Food Network 

Ongoing On track 

New Foodbanks September 2023  Complete – 
provision ongoing 

Community Vegetable Gardens April 2024 – October 2024 On track – not yet 
initiated 

Provision of Food Parcels Ongoing On track 

Data analysis May 2023 - March 2025 On track 

Options 

1. Cabinet is asked to note the report but has the option to provide additional 
feedback to officers to further shape the future of the project. 

 
 

Implications 

23. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk, 
equality and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following 
implications have been considered:- 

 
Financial 
 

24. The project is on track to be delivered within the £206,000 allocated two-year 
budget. 
 
Climate change 
 

25. Many aspects of the project so far have had a positive impact on climate change. 
Food is a significant contributor to greenhouse gas emissions and the Sustainable 
Food Network has, and will continue to, reduce food waste in South 
Cambridgeshire. In addition, the provision of electric blankets will likely result in 
lower electricity use and associated greenhouse gas emissions. 

 
 

Page 34



 

Alignment with Council Priority Areas 

26. Growing local businesses and economies 

Many of the projects outlined have been delivered in partnership with the voluntary 
sector and local businesses. As an example, the Community Hubs service has been, 
and continues to be, provided by Cambridgeshire ACRE, a local charity. The 
employment of 3 local ‘Village Agents’ within this project provides a paid opportunity 
for local residents.  
 

27. Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in 
 
The projects continue to link services such as Local Energy Advice Partnership and 
other debt and energy advice organisations to residents in need of housing and 
financial support. Leading to residents gaining access to fuel grants and home 
improvements which could lead to energy efficiency savings. 
 
28. Being green to our core 

Steps have been made to create a sustainable food network, bringing together 
foodbanks, allotment growing groups and supermarket chains to reduce food waste, 
and reduce food miles by offering locally grown, unwanted items to local people. 
 
29. A modern and caring Council 

This project continues to support those already suffering financial hardship and help 
prevent those just about managing from falling into debt by offering a range of 
practical and financial help.  
 
 

Background Papers 

Support for cost-of-living crisis for South Cambridgeshire residents – 14 November 
2023 Cabinet 
 
Further Support for Cost-of-Living Crisis for South Cambridgeshire Residents – 20 
March 2023 Cabinet 
 
 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Cost of Living response evaluation for projects from 14 November 2022 
to 31 March 2023 
 
Appendix B: Warm Hubs in Winter in East and South Cambridgeshire Evaluation 
Report 
 
Appendix C: Cost of Living and Council Tax Support leaflet 

Page 35

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s129226/Cost%20of%20Living%20Crisis%20Support%20for%20Residents%20-%20Report%20for%20Cabinet.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s129226/Cost%20of%20Living%20Crisis%20Support%20for%20Residents%20-%20Report%20for%20Cabinet.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s130706/Further%20Support%20for%20Cost-of-Living%20Crisis%20for%20South%20Cambridgeshire%20Residents%20-%20Report%20for%20Cabinet.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s130706/Further%20Support%20for%20Cost-of-Living%20Crisis%20for%20South%20Cambridgeshire%20Residents%20-%20Report%20for%20Cabinet.pdf


 
 
 

Report Author:  

Chris Riches – Cost of Living Project Officer 
Telephone: (01954) 713036 
 

Page 36



Appendix A - Cost of Living response evaluation for 

projects from 14 November 2022 to 31 March 2023 

1. Introduction 

1.1  On 14 November 2022, Cabinet passed a range of measures, utilising a grant 

from the Integrated Care Board and South Cambridgeshire District Council 

(SCDC) reserves, to help ease the cost of living for residents in South 

Cambridgeshire. This report provides an update on how each project was 

delivered, the outcome of each project, and where applicable, learnings that have 

been taken to improve the delivery of services in the next round of cost-of-living 

related initiatives. Below is a table outlining each project committed to on 14 

November 2022, and the budget assigned (some differing from original). 

 

 SCDC 

Reserve (£) 

Integrated 

Care System 

(ICS) Grant 

(£) 

Discretionary Housing Payments 100,000 - 

Section 13A Discretionary Council Tax Discounts 60,000 - 

Electric blankets & slow cookers scheme - 28,500 

Total Warm Hubs project - 126,000 

Food parcel delivery - 15,000 

Warm packs - 1,500 

Community Chest Grant funding - 20,000 

Officer resources - 20,000 

 

2. Charitable giving page 

2.1  A charitable giving page was set up online and raised over £2,000 to help bolster 

the number of electric blankets and slow cookers we were able to offer to 

residents. As SCDC is not a registered charity, the Council was not able to access 

Page 37

https://www.gofundme.com/f/scdccostofliving


25% extra through gift aid, and feedback has suggested that more money would 

have been raised if SCDC had partnered with a local charity for this project. The 

funds from this page were used to offer an electric blanket and/or slow cooker to 

more people. 

3. Electric blankets & slow cookers scheme 

3.1  Overall, the project was extremely successful as we were able to provide over 

400 people with either a slow cooker or an electric blanket, with many opting to 

receive both. Eligible residents were selected using existing Council Tax data, 

with those receiving either an 85%, 70%, or 55% discount being eligible to access 

this scheme. This cohort of residents were identified as ‘just about managing’ i.e., 

people in work who are struggling but do not qualify for other benefits. The 

remaining stock (after targeting this cohort) was distributed through foodbanks in 

the district, and social prescribers, to ensure that it reached those in need. 

 

3.2  A feedback form was sent out to all residents who had provided their email 

address, and 103 responses were received. When asked how many hours a week 

they used their electric blanket, the average answer was 12.6 hours. Using the 

cost of running an average 24KW boiler as £2.40 an hour, and the average cost of 

running an electric blanket per hour as 5p, we can estimate that on average, every 

resident that received an electric blanket from us saved £29.61 per week if they 

used their electric blanket for warmth instead of their central heating. That’s a total 

saving of £384.93 if the resident used their blanket from January to March 2023 

(13 weeks). In addition to this quantitative data, the anecdotal feedback of this 

scheme was similarly extremely positive. Some of these comments are below: 

 

“Love my electric blanket it’s instant heat which helps with my aching legs and 

keeps me warm even after other temperature has been turned off. This blanket 

has been a god send this winter.” 

 

“I LOVE my electric blanket. I can cosy up on the couch and don’t need to boost 

the heating in the evenings. I wouldn’t be without one now.” 

 

Page 38

https://www.thisismoney.co.uk/money/bills/article-11542937/Central-heating-does-cost-run.html
https://www.homesandgardens.com/interior-design/bedrooms/how-much-does-it-cost-to-run-an-electric-blanket


“It’s kept me warm, I’ve also used it on my bed, it’s made a big difference on my 

heating and I have managed to keep warm and not use the heating so much and 

economise and prioritise, so my heating lasts a little bit longer.” 

 

“My daughter & I have many movie nights cuddled up. It’s an amazing item to 

have. Thank you.” 

 

3.3  The recipients of slow cookers provided equally as positive feedback. When 

asked on a scale of 1 to 5 how useful they have found the slow cooker, 85% of 

recipients rated it a 4 or a 5. In addition to this, recipients were also asked how 

much of a noticeable difference using a slow cooker had on reducing their energy 

bills – 85% of respondents noticed at least some difference in their energy bills. 

Some anecdotal feedback is provided below: 

 

“This is great not only saved money but time too, delicious meals” 

 

“I’ve saved using the oven for our meals that costs a lot to use, big difference” 

 

“Fantastic cooker...great for any meal. I have used this a lot and not only a money 

saver but a lovely way of cooking healthy meals. I especially like steaming fish in 

this.” 

 

3.4  Regarding the electric blankets, we received some feedback towards the end of 

the project that one large blanket was not enough for larger families. As we had 

some remaining stocks, we were able to provide over 50 families containing 4 or 

more people with an extra electric blanket to mitigate for this. Additionally, we 

received some feedback that slow cookers were not so easy to use for 

vegetarians, and harder to use in general than the electric blankets, as well as a 

lower uptake. As we are to repeat this scheme in the future, the evidence would 

suggest a focus on providing electric blankets might be better as they were more 

popular, easier to deliver, and made a more tangible difference to many peoples’ 

lives. 

Page 39



4. Warm Hubs 

4.1  Warm Hubs were established in places such as: libraries, community centres, 

church halls, sports clubs, cafés and other places that promise a warm welcome 

to anyone struggling to heat their home. They were totally free to use, and most 

venues offered hot drinks, activities and other services, such as free wi-fi. They 

were able to support vulnerable and isolated people, as well as those on lower 

incomes who are unable to pay their energy bills without compromising on other 

essentials, such as food, rent or hygiene. 

 

4.2  A full external evaluation of this project was undertaken and is available online.  

 

4.3  In total across South Cambridgeshire, 25 Warm Hubs were in operation for a 

combined total of 2,942 hours and had 101 volunteers who were mostly local to 

that village. Across all 25 Hubs, there were a total of 9,363 attendee visits from 

October 2022 to March 2023. The biggest benefit of the Warm Hubs project was 

that they provided a local space where people who were experiencing loneliness 

and isolation were able to socialise with others in their village. Using social value 

calculations, the external evaluation estimates that for every £1 invested into 

them, the Warm Hubs delivered £4.19 of social value.  

 

4.4  One of the largest barriers to participation in the Hubs was their name and 

perceived focus. Many individuals did not engage with their local Warm Hub 

because they believed it was only for people struggling to afford their heating. 

Although this barrier was gradually overcome through word of mouth in each 

village, it still hindered numbers. Moving forward, many of the Warm Hubs have 

evolved into Community Hubs, leaning into the service they provide as a social 

hub, whilst also continuing to provide a space whereby people can access further 

support through the cost-of-living crisis as well as access other services which will 

support health and wellbeing i.e., access to housing and debt advice. 

Page 40

https://cambsacre.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Warm_Hubs_Evaluation_Report.pdf


5. Food parcel delivery 

5.1  To increase access to affordable food, SCDC contracted a local charitable 

organisation, Hope CIC, to provide food parcels to those in need. These were 

initially just for those attending Warm Hubs, but this scheme expanded so that any 

officer at the Council could make a referral for one to be delivered free of charge 

to any resident in need. After referral, ALL parcels were delivered within 48 hours, 

and in emergencies they were delivered on the same day. There was capacity to 

deliver around 300 parcels; 65 were delivered up to 31 March 2023 as this service 

acted as a last resort. The contract with Hope CIC has been extended so that we 

can continue to provide this support, with additional money assigned to ensure 

this can continue. A typical recipient of this service has been someone that has 

contacted the Council with little, or no food left in their house, and no means of 

transport to reach their nearest foodbank. Providing a parcel with a weeks’ worth 

of food has provided them a lifeline to ensure that they have food to eat through 

that particular crisis.  

 

5.2  As an example, we took a referral from Huntingdon Job Centre for a resident in 

South Cambridgeshire who was living in temporary accommodation. Upon making 

contact, he told us how he had not eaten properly in over a week and had been 

surviving on bread for the past couple of days. Even though this first contact was 

made shortly before 5pm, thanks to the flexibility of Hope CIC, we were able to get 

a food parcel delivered within 3 hours so that he could eat that evening. Providing 

a food parcel allowed us to deliver some immediate relief, while also looking at 

how we could provide longer term support. 

6. Warm Packs 

6.1  In total we were able to provide 100 Warm Packs to residents in South 

Cambridgeshire. A Warm Pack contained a blanket, hot water bottle, thermos 

flask, thermal socks, a hat, and gloves. These were handed out discretionally by 

officers in Environmental Health, Housing, and Communities; some were also 

provided to foodbanks to reach those in need. Having Warm Packs on hand 

Page 41



provided an extra bit of support that we could provide to residents struggling with 

fuel poverty and the cost-of-living crisis. 

7. Community Chest Grant funding 

7.1  £20,000 was assigned to the Community Chest Grant for projects that helped 

tackle the cost-of-living crisis however only one application for this funding was 

submitted meaning that over £18,000 remains. This money has rolled over into 

this financial year and moving forward, the Cost of Living Project Officer has 

begun working with local community groups to encourage them to put applications 

forward. Many see the application process as a barrier to bid for funding, but with 

the help of an officer it is hoped that more applications can be received. 

 

Page 42



 

- 1 - 

 
 
 
 

Warm Hubs in Winter in East and South 
Cambridgeshire 
 
Evaluation Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Warm Hubs in Winter delivered by: Independent evaluation completed by: 

 
 

 
Final report published by Cambridgeshire ACRE – 19-Apr-2023 
 
Company limited by guarantee No. 3690881 • Registered charity No. 1074032 • VAT Registration No. 838 5035 17 
Registered office: e-space North, 181 Wisbech Road, Littleport, Ely, CB6 1RA 

Page 43

Appendix B



 

- 2 - 

Contents 
 

About Cambridgeshire ACRE ............................................................................................................................... 3 

About Rose Regeneration ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

Summary ...................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Why were Warm Hubs needed? .................................................................................................................... 4 

What are Warm Hubs ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

What support did they provide? .................................................................................................................... 4 

What difference have they made? ................................................................................................................ 7 

Are Warm Hubs for life, not just for winter? ............................................................................................. 8 

1. Setting the scene in East and South Cambridgeshire .............................................................................. 9 

1.1. What are Warm Hubs? ............................................................................................................................. 9 

1.2. How were they set up? ............................................................................................................................12 

1.3. Where are they? ........................................................................................................................................14 

2. About the Warm Hubs .....................................................................................................................................16 

2.1. How are they run? ....................................................................................................................................16 

2.2. What do they do? ......................................................................................................................................19 

3. The impact Warm Hubs are having ..............................................................................................................24 

3.1. Who are they helping ..............................................................................................................................24 

3.2. What difference are they making? ......................................................................................................34 

4. Learning so far .....................................................................................................................................................39 

4.1. What has been successful? ....................................................................................................................39 

4.2. Added value ................................................................................................................................................40 

4.3. What has worked less well? ..................................................................................................................42 

5. Where next ...........................................................................................................................................................46 

Annex A: Timeline for Warm Hubs in Winter project ................................................................................50 

Annex B: Warm Hub volunteer roles ...............................................................................................................51 

Annex C: Advice and Support Programme Booklet ....................................................................................53 

Annex D: List of Warm Hubs and when they opened .................................................................................56 

Annex E: Networking sessions for Warm Hub volunteers .......................................................................57 

Annex F: Attendance numbers at Warm Hubs .............................................................................................58 

Annex G: Social Return on Investment (SROI) Analysis (East Cambridgeshire) ..............................59 

Annex H: Social Return on Investment (SROI) Analysis (South Cambridgeshire) ...........................61 

Page 44



 

- 3 - 

About Cambridgeshire ACRE 
 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE works alongside the rural communities of Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough, helping them take action to make positive changes to their local 
neighbourhoods. 
 
Whether it’s supporting volunteers to lead community projects, bringing local organisations 
together to drive meaningful change or amplifying the voices of our parish and community 
members, our charity is deeply embedded in rural community life. 
 
With our support, residents, groups and partners can seize opportunities and realise their 
aspirations to improve the places, services and facilities that are important to them. 
 
More information on Cambridgeshire ACRE’s work with rural communities at 
https://www.cambsacre.org.uk. 
 
 

About Rose Regeneration 
 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE commissioned Rose Regeneration to undertake an independent 
evaluation of the Warm Hubs in Winter project. 
 
Rose Regeneration is an economic development business that works with communities, 
government and businesses to help them achieve their full potential. 
 
They help communities by bringing people together in teams to design and implement projects; 
developing funding bids and business plans; and capturing good practice and disseminating it. 
 
They assist government at all levels, working with national departments, local authorities, 
parish and town councils and statutory bodies to provide reviews, evaluations, policy design, 
economic analysis, toolkits and practical advice. 
 
They support businesses to access grants and develop projects; set up public/private sector 
partnerships; and establish innovative approaches around corporate social responsibility. 
 
More information about Rose Regeneration can be found at http://roseregeneration.co.uk/. 
 

Page 45

https://www.cambsacre.org.uk/
http://roseregeneration.co.uk/


 

- 4 - 

Summary 
 
 
Why were Warm Hubs needed? 
Warm Hubs were rapidly established in September 2022 in response to cost-of-living 
pressures where there were concerns that residents would be unable to heat their homes and 
would be struggling over the winter months to afford other essentials such as food. 
 
 
What are Warm Hubs 
Through Integrated Care System (ICS) funding, 38 Warm Hubs operated across East and South 
Cambridgeshire between October 2022 and March 2023. These Warm Hubs have been led by 
volunteers and taken place in accessible community buildings. Each Warm Hub was provided 
with set-up and ongoing support from Cambridgeshire ACRE.  
   
Operating at the heart of local communities, Warm Hubs offered warm, friendly and inclusive 
places for people to stay warm and meet others. They offered free refreshments, somewhere to 
socialise, participate in activities, access Wi-Fi and receive information on how to stay ‘warm 
and well’. Through the Warm Hubs Advice and Support Programme, residents were also able to 
access other statutory, voluntary and community services.   
 
 
What support did they provide?  
Some examples of the activities and events offered at Warm Hubs are shown in Table 1 below. 
 

Table 1: Activities and events held at Warm Hubs 

Activities Events 

• Games and puzzles.  
• Arts & crafts.  
• Knit and natter / crochet skills.  
• Song & story / play sessions for children.  
• Book club.  
• Chair-based fitness classes.  
• Bingo.  
• Tutoring sessions. 
• Skills share / swap. 

• ‘Spuds at the hub’.  
• Theme-based quizzes.  
• Live music.  
• Clothes exchange.  
• Art competition.  
• Puppet show.  
• Toy swap.  
• ‘Souper Friday’. 
• Bonfire Night.  
• ‘Mince Pies and Carols’. 

Page 46



 

- 5 - 

Photo 1 - Attendees completing a jigsaw at the Haddenham & Wilburton Warm Hub 

 
 

Photo 2 - An older gentleman talking to a volunteer at the Cambourne Warm Hub 

 
 
Surveys of volunteers and regular hub attendees have highlighted how people chose to attend 
Warm Hubs for companionship and to ‘get out of the house’ rather than simply to keep warm. 
However, being able to save putting their heating on at home was instrumental for some in 
deciding to first visit. 

Page 47



 

- 6 - 

Figure 1 below shows how communities have used a small amount of ICS funding (an average of 
£1,752 per Hub) as a springboard to deliver much more. Every Warm Hub received funding to 
open for up to six hours per week, but many opened for longer and/or for more days. 
 
Warm Hubs have an average of 10 volunteers each. If volunteers had been paid for their time 
at the median pay rate for their District, it would have cost nearly £368k. These figures exclude 
the two additional hours a week that lead volunteers report they spend administering their 
Warm Hub. 
 

Figure 1 - Key statistics relating to the operation of Warm Hubs (Oct-22 - Mar-23) 

 
  
 

Number of Warm Hubs 
operating : 

38 

Total hours of 
provision: 

5,150 

Hours of provision 
funded: 

3,156 

[61% of total] 

Operating costs paid to 
Warm Hubs: 

£66,580 

Number of attendees 
visiting a Warm Hub: 

16,552 

Number of volunteer 
hours provided: 

19,348 

Value of volunteer 
hours at District 
median pay rate: 

£367,998 

Page 48



 

- 7 - 

What difference have they made? 
100% of regular hub attendees responding to the survey said that they felt attending the Warm 
Hub had helped them get through the winter. 
 
The informal nature of the activities taking place at Warm Hub sessions, and the way in which 
local volunteers lead them, means they have provided support which meets the needs of local 
communities. 
 
“I come here for the company…I like that it’s friendly and relaxed, everyone just chats, there’s 
no pressure”.  
 
“I come here for the chance to meet other people and not really to keep warm – I’m just really 
pleased to have a social space and company”.  
 
“My mum and dad died a couple of years ago and I live alone. I’m very cautious about using 
electricity because it costs an awful lot… I have three gas canisters and they last for ages. So, I 
get to keep warm and boil the kettle at the same time. Only trouble is that the canisters are 
very heavy”. 
 
Warm Hubs have supported attendees with multiple and complex needs, including people with 
dementia, alcohol dependence, grief after bereavement or loss, unpaid carers, and children and 
adults with learning disabilities.  
 
35% of respondents to the volunteer survey said this was their only voluntary commitment – 
suggesting that Warm Hubs have encouraged new people to volunteer beyond the usual 
cohort. 
 
To establish the impact of volunteering on an individual’s wellbeing; an abridged, reduced 
version of the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale was used to collect information 
from volunteers willing to provide it. This shows:  

• Volunteers are feeling more useful: there was an increase of 5 percentage points for the 
respondents choosing ‘Some of the time’, ‘Often’ or ‘All of the time’, between the initial 
survey (95%) and the repeat survey (100%).  

• Volunteers were asked to rate their experience of volunteering at a Warm Hub. 88% of 
respondents felt their Warm Hub volunteering had been a positive experience (43% 
Very Positive and 45% Positive). 

• Volunteers are feeling more optimistic about the future: there was an increase of 3 
percentage points for respondents choosing ‘Some of the time’, ‘Often’ or ‘All of the 
time’, between the initial survey (95%) and the repeat survey (97%). 

 
“This is a wonderful, shared experience…an amazing community collaboration. We have tapped 
into a reservoir of goodwill, compassion and generosity. A few service users have been so taken 
by the warmth of welcome they have joined our team of volunteers”.  
 
Social Return on Investment (SROI) is a way of developing a value for the less tangible 
outcomes delivered through Warm Hubs. We have looked at how Warm Hubs have increased 
local volunteering opportunities, reduced winter pressures and helped attendees to obtain 
heating/energy advice, reduced social isolation, helped attendees to access other services, and 

Page 49



 

- 8 - 

led to partnership working and collaboration. The analysis shows for every £1.00 invested in 
Warm Hubs across East and South Cambridgeshire, £4.50 of social value was generated. 
 
 
Are Warm Hubs for life, not just for winter? 
Regular service users and volunteers at 23 Hubs have identified a need for year-round 
provision. They have considered what their offer might look like – including practicalities such 
as opening times and venues alongside the support local residents will continue to need to 
improve their health and wellbeing.    
 
There are four themes that have emerged from the pilot that could be picked up in a successor 
initiative(s):  

 
1. Digital exclusion has made it hard for attendees to access information online. They 

have relied on volunteers using their own devices to help them access services online 
and book appointments. Providing equipment at Hubs and upskilling volunteers and 
attendees to get them online and stay online, is important.  
 

2. The lack of public transport makes it more challenging for residents without access to a 
car to visit their nearest Hub. There is a need to identify and develop local transport 
solutions.  
 

3. A need to build on the Warm Hubs Advice and Support Programme by improving 
communication and links between Hubs and statutory, voluntary and community 
services.  
 

4. Making physical enhancements to Hubs to improve their energy efficiency and enable 
them to offer separate space for attendees to meet providers and/or have confidential 
discussions. 

 

Page 50



 

- 9 - 

1. Setting the scene in East and South Cambridgeshire 
 
 
Energy costs have increased sharply since 2021, largely due to a surge in wholesale gas prices. 
Many consumers were protected, at least initially, by the energy price cap. However, the 
energy price cap increased by 12% in October 2021 and 54% in April 2022. The April increase 
was equivalent to £700 for ‘typical’ levels of dual fuel consumption paid by direct debit. The 
monthly increases in both gas and electricity prices were by far the largest ever on a series 
going back to 1988. The annual increases to April 2022 were also the largest ever record on a 
series going back to 1970. 
 
Amid this, the Government announced a series of packages to help households with rising 
energy costs in February, March, and May 2022. In August 2022, the NHS Confederation wrote 
to the Chancellor of the Exchequer to raise their concern about the impact of rising energy 
costs on people’s health and the knock-on effect this will have on NHS services. They feared 
many people would face the awful choice of skipping meals to heat their homes or have to put 
up with living in cold, damp conditions.  
 
There was a concern that vulnerable and isolated residents and those on low incomes in East 
and South Cambridgeshire would be unable to pay their energy bills without compromising on 
other essentials such as food, rent or hygiene. In August 2022, South Cambridgeshire District 
Council (SCDC) on behalf of East Cambridgeshire and South Cambridgeshire District Councils 
led the procurement process to identify a provider to develop a series of Warm Hubs operated 
from community buildings across the two Districts in winter (2022-2023) using funding from 
NHS Cambridgeshire & Peterborough (part of Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Integrated 
Care System’s South Place Partnership). SCDC commissioned Cambridgeshire ACRE to set up 
and support Warm Hubs across East and South Cambridgeshire during the wintertime.  
 
“Helping people to stay well this winter is a priority for us all this year, which is why we are 
pleased to support Warm Hubs across East and South Cambridgeshire and beyond. Working 
together, with our councils and voluntary sector partners, these hubs will be spaces for people 
to come together; not just as a warm space this winter, but to provide support and advice on a 
range of matters…in a welcoming, friendly, community atmosphere.” Kit Connick, Chief Officer 
Strategy and Partnerships, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Integrated Care System 
 
 
1.1. What are Warm Hubs? 
Warm Hubs were set up to provide support to those most vulnerable this winter to help 
mitigate cost-of-living pressures. They support local people who are in, or at risk of, fuel 
poverty or who may be feeling lonely or isolated.  
 

• Warm Hubs are warm, safe, accessible community buildings that provide people with a 
place to stay warm and meet others. 

• They offer free refreshments and/or hot food, somewhere to socialise, participate in 
activities, access wi-fi and receive information on how to stay ‘warm and well’.  

• Through the Warm Hubs Advice and Support Programme, residents can be referred to 
other statutory, voluntary and community services.  

• Warm Hubs are community-led – they are run by volunteers in their own communities 
who support those in need and reach residents that might not otherwise access help.   

Page 51



 

- 10 - 

 
At the outset of the project a ’theory of change’ was produced for the pilot. This is a flow 
diagram (see Figure 2) setting out why Warm Hubs are needed, the support they have 
delivered, and the outcomes and longer-term changes that this work has begun. 

Page 52



 

- 11 - 

Figure 2 - Warm Hubs Theory of Change 

 
 

P
age 53



 

- 12 - 

1.2. How were they set up? 
Cambridgeshire ACRE was commissioned to support the set up and operation of Warm Hubs in 
East and South Cambridgeshire. The pilot began in September 2022 with the doors of Warm 
Hubs expected to open from October 2022. The pilot was anticipated to run until the end of 
March 2023. Annex A contains a timeline for the project. 
 
Community buildings  
In September 2022, Cambridgeshire ACRE held online networking meetings covering East and 
South Cambridgeshire. Parish Councils, village hall committees and local groups covering both 
Districts were invited to find out more about the Warm Hubs pilot project. Following the 
meetings, Cambridgeshire ACRE circulated an Expression of Interest form for completion and 
return.  
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE carried out a ‘readiness check’ with interested venues and parties to 
assess whether or not the community building was ‘fit for purpose’ as a Warm Hub. This 
included an expectation that the building:  

• Is a warm building working towards reducing energy use and preparing for a low carbon 
future.  

• Be in a steady state of governance and management.  
• Be fully accessible (e.g., level access, accessible toilets, baby-changing facilities).  
• Have suitable insurance, including a minimum of £5 million Public Liability Insurance.  
• Have appropriate music licensing.  
• Have a robust Health and Safety Policy plus written risk assessments (for the building 

generally and fire-specific).  
• Have policies and procedures in place on safeguarding children and adults at risk of 

harm.  
• Having willing volunteers keen to be engaged in the project.  

 
Because of the short lead-in time Cambridgeshire ACRE prioritised community buildings with 
these things in place. Where a building did not meet some or all of these requirements, 
Cambridgeshire ACRE worked with them to put them in place so that they could take part in 
any future project.  
 
Volunteers   
Venues selected to offer a Warm Hub were provided with assistance on recruiting and 
retaining volunteers. Cambridgeshire ACRE provided a Warm Hubs Volunteering Policy for 
community building management committees to discuss and adopt so that the expectations on 
volunteers was clear from the outset.  
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE provided basic training to committees to help them get their Warm Hub 
started. This included:  

• How to attract, recruit, train and retain volunteers to run a Warm Hub.  
• The development of volunteer roles with job descriptions: Hub lead, Hub welcomers, 

Hub promoter, Hub health & safety lead, Hub refreshment lead and Hub caretaker. 
Please see Annex B.  

• How to ensure your Warm Hub is a safe space for all (equality and diversity 
considerations) and reducing barriers to people attending.  

• How to safely run your Warm Hub (health and safety considerations, including how to 
carry out a specific risk assessment for your Warm Hub’s activities).  

Page 54



 

- 13 - 

• How to promote your Warm Hub to the local community. Cambridgeshire ACRE 
produced marketing materials (e.g. Warm Hubs logo, banners, badges), led a launch 
campaign, and assisted individual Warm Hubs with local and targeted promotion.  

• How to collect feedback from those attending your Warm Hub to support the external 
evaluation of the pilot.  

 
This initial training was provided to volunteers through a series of online sessions, including at 
evenings and weekends. 156 volunteers participated in a 2½ hour online training session run by 
Cambridgeshire ACRE. All volunteers received a copy of a Volunteer Handbook. Lead 
volunteers at each Warm Hub were provided with materials to put any further volunteers 
recruited through a similar training session. From the feedback received, volunteers rated the 
training highly:  
 
“Comprehensive and thorough information was provided about setting up and running a Warm 
Hub, and it was also a good opportunity to meet volunteers supporting other Hubs”.  
 
“The online training was very well presented, and the handbook is a very helpful guide”.  
 
“Training on offer and taken so far is excellent”.  
 
“Very well organised and run and covered all the issues I expected it to”.  
 
“We have to be ourselves in our welcome and friendliness, but the training helped with 
practical needs”.  
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE also supported volunteers to undertake additional training. This also 
took place online, through registered providers. This enhanced training included:  

• How to deal with emergencies: 9 volunteers completed a First Aid in the Workplace 
course.  

• How to safely deliver refreshments: 16 volunteers undertook a Level 2 Food Hygiene 
and Safety for Catering qualification.  

• How to organise local community transport solutions to help people attend (including 
policies and procedures for offering lifts).  

• How to register as a food business (where a Warm Hub wanted to provide meals).  
• How to support attendees with additional needs (e.g. dementia awareness, autism 

awareness, supporting people in a mental health crisis). 2 volunteers undertook Level 1 
Safeguarding Training and 1 volunteer completed an Autism Awareness course to help 
them better respond to the needs of one of their Warm Hub attendees.  

• How to identify and access additional funding to support your Warm Hub’s activities 
and/or to improve the energy efficiency of your building.  

 
Partners  
In September 2022, Cambridgeshire ACRE held an online networking event for all partners 
who might provide services to explain the concept of Warm Hubs. Partners were then asked to 
submit information about the support they could provide. Cambridgeshire ACRE used the 
information partners submitted to create a menu of support services and to draw together 
signposting information. This Advice and Support Programme included producing a booklet for 
Warm Hub volunteers to use to signpost people to sources of help if they asked, or through 
conversation if the volunteer recognised the attendee needed help. Please see Annex C.   

Page 55



 

- 14 - 

 
Other support  
Other set-up support provided by Cambridgeshire ACRE included:  

• Establishing procedures to administer the grant funding towards Warm Hub operating 
costs.  

• Working with Warm Hubs to collect data and information for the evaluation.  
• Identifying opportunities to share learning and outcomes with stakeholders.  

 
 
1.3. Where are they? 
The pilot project was initially to establish 10 Warm Hubs across East and South 
Cambridgeshire. Despite the short lead-in time to find suitable locations with engaged 
volunteers, Cambridgeshire ACRE received 70+ Expression of Interest forms. This led 
Cambridgeshire ACRE to work with East Cambridgeshire District Council and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council to increase the number of Warm Hubs supported.  
 
Between October 2022 and March 2023, 13 Warm Hubs operated in East Cambridgeshire. 
Their locations are shown in Figure 3. 
 
Figure 3 - Map showing the location of Warm Hubs in East Cambridgeshire 

 
 
Annex D contains a list of the locations of the Warm Hubs operating in East Cambridgeshire 
and when they opened.   
 
Between October 2022 and March 2023, 25 Warm Hubs operated in South Cambridgeshire. 
Their locations are shown in Figure 4. 

Page 56



 

- 15 - 

 
Figure 4 - Map showing the location of Warm Hubs in South Cambridgeshire 

 
 
Annex D contains a list of the locations of the Warm Hubs operating in South Cambridgeshire 
and when they opened.

Page 57



 

- 16 - 

2. About the Warm Hubs 
 
 
2.1. How are they run? 
A Warm Hub is a warm and safe place where local people can expect a friendly and inclusive 
welcome. People can come along on their own, or with a friend, and talk to others over 
refreshments. Warm Hubs reflect the needs of each community – some have evolved out of 
groups that already meet, some might be arranged around other activities, and others might be 
completely new. All received funding from Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Integrated Care 
System’s South Place Partnership to open for up to 6 hours a week, though many opened for far 
more hours.   
 
Table 2: Operational information for Hubs covering the period 1 October 2022 – 31 March 2023 

 East 
Cambridgeshire 

South 
Cambridgeshire 

Warm Hubs in operation 13 25 
Total hours of operation 2,208 2,942 
Total hours of provision funded through this project   1,319 1,837 
% of Warm Hub provision funded through this project 60% 62% 
Total operating costs paid out to Warm Hubs £26,130 £40,450 

 
Warm Hubs are operated by trained volunteers from within the local area; people who are 
uniquely positioned to understand the needs of their local community.  
 
Table 3: Operational information for volunteers covering the period 1 October 2022 – 31 March 2023 

 East 
Cambridgeshire 

South 
Cambridgeshire 

Total number of volunteers   49 101 
Total volunteer hours provided 6,783 12,565 
Value of volunteer hours at median hourly pay rate for 
District    

£106,154 £261,844 

 
At the outset, Cambridgeshire ACRE expected up to 100 volunteers to support Warm Hubs 
when fully operational. This number has been far exceeded with 150 of the 156 volunteers 
trained during October/November 2022 still regularly volunteering in March 2023.  
 
As part of the evaluation, Warm Hubs volunteers were surveyed to collate information about 
their experiences. A survey was circulated in December 2022, with 101 responses received. 
This revealed how:  

• While 58% of respondents indicated they volunteered somewhere else apart from their 
Warm Hub, for 35% of respondents this is their only current voluntary commitment. 
This suggests Warm Hubs have encouraged new people to volunteer beyond the usual 
cohort.  

• The majority of volunteers at the start of the project were aged 50 years and over 
(95%). While this reduced during the pilot (to 85% of volunteers being 50 years and 
over) it perhaps reflects this demographics’ capacity and availability to volunteer during 
weekdays when the majority of Warm Hubs are open.  

 

Page 58



 

- 17 - 

Figure 5 shows the 13 Warm Hubs in East Cambridgeshire [the coloured squares] and where 
each draws its volunteers from [the same-coloured dots]. 
 
Figure 5 - Location of Warm Hubs and their volunteers in East Cambridgeshire 

 
 
For the most part, the map shows how this has been very much about hyper-local volunteering; 
with people wanting to do something in their own community. 
 
Photo 3 - Attendees at the Cambourne Warm Hubs taking part in a fish & chip lunch 

 

Page 59



 

- 18 - 

 
Figure 6 shows the 25 Warm Hubs in South Cambridgeshire [the coloured squares] and where 
each draws its volunteers from [the same-coloured dots]. 
 
Figure 6 - Location of Warm Hubs and their volunteers in South Cambridgeshire 

 
 
This map shows that Hubs in South Cambridgeshire have also drawn their volunteers from a 
hyper-local catchment for the most part. 
 
Since the pilot began, Cambridgeshire ACRE has been running monthly networking sessions for 
Warm Hub volunteers. These have provided an opportunity for lead volunteers to share 
learning and practice, find out more about the wider package of support from their District 
Council to help residents with cost-of-living pressures, and hear from relevant external 
speakers (e.g. the meetings have included talks on food help, suicide awareness/prevention, 
and pet advice). More information can be found in Annex E. 
 
The first five Warm Hubs opened their doors in October 2022. A further 23 Hubs opened in 
November and then the remaining 10 in December 2022/January 2023. Opening dates are 
documented in Annex D. Throughout the pilot period, the number of people attending a Warm 
Hub has continued to rise as shown in Table 4 and Figure 7. 
 
There have been some fluctuations. December saw slightly lower attendance figures reported 
due to the Christmas period when some Hubs chose to shut their doors for several sessions. In 
January, poor weather conditions in the South of the County caused attendance to fall over a 
couple of weeks, with volunteers reporting that older people, in particular, were put off from 
walking to their Warm Hub when icy/snowy conditions meant that walking on ungritted 
pavements might have been dangerous. At the end of the six month pilot period, over 16,500 
visits had been made to Warm Hubs.  
 
 

Page 60



 

- 19 - 

Table 4: Operational information on attendees visiting Warm Hubs covering the period 1 October 2022 – 31 March 
2023 

 East 
Cambridgeshire 

South 
Cambridgeshire 

Total 

October 2022 319 52 371 
November 2022 1,194 585 1,779 
December 2022 1,233 798 2,031 
January 2023 1,475 1,382 2,857 
February 2023 1,462 3,012 4,474 
March 2023 1,506 3,534 5,040 
Total 7,189 9,363 16,552 

 
Attendance figures broken down by Warm Hub can be found in Annex F. 
 
Figure 7 - Warm Hubs attendance figures by month 

 
 
 
2.2. What do they do? 
Warm Hubs provide residents with somewhere to socialise, take part in activities and receive 
information on how to reduce bills, access financial support, and stay healthy and well. 
 
Every Warm Hub is different and has evolved to suit local needs, volunteer and attendee 
requirements and vision. Their activities will vary, but all offer refreshments, Wi-Fi and the 
Advice and Support Programme. 
 

319

1,194 1,233

1,475
1,462 1,506

52

585
798

1,382

3,012

3,534

371

1,779
2,031

2,857

4,474

5,040

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23

Warm Hubs attendance figures by month

East Cambs Warm Hubs South Cambs Warm Hubs

All Warm Hubs Expon. (All Warm Hubs)

Page 61



 

- 20 - 

Photo 4 - A mum and baby attending the Haddenham & Wilburton Warm Hub 

 
 
Photo 5 - A group of attendees at the Willingham (Octagon) Warm Hub 

 
 

Page 62



 

- 21 - 

Photo 6 - Attendees at the Hardwick Warm Hub 

 
 
Some examples of the activities and events offered at Warm Hubs are shown in Table 5 below. 
 
Table 5: Activities and events held at Warm Hubs 

Activities Events 

• Games and puzzles.  
• Arts & crafts.  
• Knit and natter / crochet skills.  
• Song & story / play sessions for children.  
• Book club.  
• Chair-based fitness classes.  
• Bingo.  
• Tutoring sessions. 
• Skills share / swap. 

• ‘Spuds at the hub’.  
• Theme-based quizzes.  
• Live music.  
• Clothes exchange.  
• Art competition.  
• Puppet show.  
• Toy swap.  
• ‘Souper Friday’. 
• Bonfire Night.  
• ‘Mince Pies and Carols’. 
 

 
Some examples of the type of activities available in East Cambridgeshire: 

• “We provide magazines, board games, playing cards, wool and knitting needles, toys, 
art, and craft material, plus, we always have a jigsaw on the go – very popular. We 
organise art competitions for children.” Haddenham & Wilburton Warm Hub volunteer 

• “We had the Ashley book club operating on two of the sessions.” Ashley Warm Hub 
volunteer 

• “We engaged singers to entertain attendees. Mostly attendees simply welcome the 
opportunity to chat.” Mepal Warm Hub volunteer 

Page 63



 

- 22 - 

• “We have also arranged new events outside of the Warm Hub to enable people to get 
together in a safe space,” Little Thetford Warm Hub volunteer 

 
Some examples of the activities on offer in South Cambridgeshire: 

• “Mostly we have provided a warm, bright, and cheery place to sit and volunteers to chat 
to if required. We also made available card games and jigsaws. Toys can be made 
available for young children.” Cottenham (Community Centre) Warm Hub volunteer 

• “We have games and puzzles and also a craft table.” Comberton Warm Hub volunteer 
• “There are jigsaws and books available but most people just want to chat.” Rampton 

Warm Hub volunteer 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE designed an Advice and Support Programme to support volunteers 
running Warm Hubs. A Warm Hubs Advice and Support Programme booklet was circulated to 
Lead Volunteers – who then circulated it to the other volunteers in their Warm Hub. The 
booklet was produced for volunteer use only and was not intended for the wider public or 
Warm Hub attendees to read. The Programme was also intended to support volunteers in the 
running of their Warm Hub.  
 
The Programme booklet covered the following areas: 

• Cost-of-Living Advice – help with energy bills, help with household bills, help with food 
costs, managing a budget, and other financial support. 

• Providing Food in your Warm Hub – legal requirements when preparing or serving 
food, how to register as a food business, preparing food at home, allergens, labelling, 
food hygiene & safety training, food banks and emergency food provision. 

• Health and Wellbeing Advice – finding NHS services, other sources of health support, 
getting to medical appointments, and supporting people in distress. 

• Community Fundraising – keeping your Warm Hub running in the longer term: getting 
started, ideas and fundraising plan template. 

• Directory of organisations who can provide support to Warm Hubs – for each 
organisation this provides a brief description of the support on offer, in which 
District(s), and a named contact(s). 

 
The booklet was updated as new advice and support became available. More information can 
be found in Annex C. 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE has provided ongoing support to Warm Hubs. Table 6 details the 
number of queries received on a month-by-month basis during the pilot. As volunteers have 
become more confident in their operation of their hub, the number of queries has decreased. 
The support needed has covered marketing and promoting their Warm Hub, requests for 
additional training, advice on serving food, support with managing volunteers and support with 
giving advice or making referrals to other organisations.  
 

Page 64



 

- 23 - 

Table 6: Operational information on volume of enquiries from Warm Hubs to Cambridgeshire ACRE team covering 
the period 1 October 2022 – 31 March 2023 

 East 
Cambridgeshire 

South 
Cambridgeshire 

Total 

October 2022 25 32 57 
November 2022 11 14 25 
December 2022 4 4 8 
January 2023 5 3 8 
February 2023 - 7 7 
March 2023 2 5 6 
Total 47 65 112 

 
The pilot forms part of a wider package of support from East Cambridgeshire and South 
Cambridgeshire District Councils to help residents with cost-of-living pressures. For example, 
South Cambridgeshire District Council funded Hope CIC to deliver food parcels for residents 
who present at Warm Hubs in need of food. Each parcel contained enough food for one week 
and reflected dietary and cultural needs. Warm Hubs attendees can self-refer or Warm Hub 
volunteers can make a referral on their behalf. By the end of the pilot, 56 food parcels had been 
delivered to households in need. 
 
Ventilation and air cleaning are recognised as important tools for mitigating the risk of COVID-
19 indoors. In East Cambridgeshire, two Warm Hubs piloted a CO2 monitor to help assess 
ventilation needs. The Warm Hubs using them found them to be very useful for alerting CO2 
rises and therefore the need for more ventilation, prompting them to open windows first and 
then doors, if necessary, when the alarm went off. Volunteers found they were very reassuring 
for attendees that they were taking ventilation / air quality seriously to minimise any COVID-
19 risk.  
 

Page 65



 

- 24 - 

3. The impact Warm Hubs are having 
 
 
3.1. Who are they helping 
 
Attendees 
Warm Hubs were asked about the activities and support they are providing, and the number of 
people attending sessions. Table 7 highlights the total number of visits made to Warm Hubs 
during the six month pilot. 
 
Table 7: Operational information on attendees visiting Warm Hubs covering the period 1 October 2022 – 31 March 
2023 

 East 
Cambridgeshire 

South 
Cambridgeshire 

Total 

Total number of attendees 7,189 9,363 16,552 
 
Figure 8 shows the 13 Warm Hubs in East Cambridgeshire [the coloured squares] and where 
each draws its regular attendees from [the same-coloured triangles]. 
 
Figure 8 - Location of Warm Hub and their regular attendees in East Cambridgeshire 

 
 
The map shows how Warm Hubs have been very much about supporting local residents and 
that the people using them have predominantly been from the immediate vicinity. While the 
majority of attendees walk to their nearest Warm Hub, some Warm Hubs have identified 

Page 66



 

- 25 - 

community transport solutions and lift sharing to help people from the surrounding area access 
support. 
 
“We have now arranged free ‘Home to Hub’ transport provided by VCAEC (Voluntary 
Community Action East Cambs). We want to help hard-to-reach residents access our Warm 
Hub – in Haddenham, Wilburton and Aldreth. They simply phone a central number to book 
door to door taxis. VCAEC keep a tally of the taxi runs and a business in Wilburton is paying the 
monthly invoice. Information about this has been added to our Warm Hub flyer which is being 
distributed to all Wilburton homes.” Haddenham & Wilburton Warm Hub volunteer 
 
The people who have attended Warm Hubs in East Cambridgeshire have been a mix of 
attendees (in terms of demographics) and ‘repeat visitors’ (i.e. the same attendees coming 
back): 
 
“We are seeing repeat visitors with the occasional new attendee…[they are] attending for 
company, enjoyment, the foodbank and a place to meet others.” Fordham Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“The majority of attendees are single older women who live alone in the village. A couple of 
younger people come and work in the Hub (for Wi-Fi) and on school holidays we get a few 
children with parents or grandparents. On Monday mornings we have a small group of six (2 
carers and 4 residents) attending from a residential care home for older people with dementia 
and learning difficulties.” Little Thetford Warm Hub volunteer 
 
Figure 9 shows the 25 Warm Hubs in South Cambridgeshire [the coloured squares] and where 
each draws its attendees from [the same-coloured triangles]. 
 
Figure 9 - Location of Warm Hubs and their regular attendees in South Cambridgeshire 

 
 

Page 67



 

- 26 - 

This map also shows how Warm Hubs have been very much about supporting local residents 
and that the people using them have been from the immediate vicinity. While the majority of 
attendees walk to their nearest Warm Hub, some have car-shared or used public transport. 
 
The people who have attended Warm Hubs in South Cambridgeshire have also been a mix of 
attendees (in terms of demographics) and ‘repeat visitors’ (i.e. the same attendees coming 
back): 
 
“Mostly repeat visitors but we have one or two new people per session. They are mostly elderly 
but some young people too, and new people to the village. We had a Ukrainian refugee attend 
her first session recently to practice her English and meet other villagers.” Caldecote Warm 
Hub volunteer 
 
“Mostly older visitors but some younger ones coming to work at the Hub.” Linton (Free Church) 
Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“Generally young families. One older person. One Ukrainian refugee family. Some repeat 
visitors.” Orchard Park Warm Hub volunteer 
 
Annex F contains more information about the number of attendees attending each Warm Hub. 
 
During the last two weeks of February 2023, volunteers at 12 Warm Hubs went through a 
short survey with some of their regular service users. Regular attendees were asked to indicate 
how they first heard about the Warm Hub they attend. Figure 10 highlights how word-of-
mouth has been important in spreading information about Warm Hubs. 
 
Figure 10 - Graph illustrating the importance of word of mouth in finding out about Warm Hubs 

 
 
Regular attendees were asked to indicate why they had first decided to visit the Warm Hub. 
Figure 11 shows the results. 

28

10

5

9 10 10

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

How did you first hear about the Warm Hub?

Page 68



 

- 27 - 

 
Figure 11 - Reasons for first deciding to visit a Warm Hub 

 
 
The chart shows that people have attended Warm Hubs for companionship and to ‘get out of 
the house’ rather than simply to keep warm. However, being able to save putting their heating 
on at home was instrumental for some in deciding to first visit. These results echo the 
anecdotal feedback provided by Warm Hub volunteers. 
 
Volunteers were asked to use one word to describe the reason most people were coming to 
their Warm Hub. Their responses were collated into a word cloud: 
 

 
 
Volunteers believe the majority of service users are accessing Warm Hubs for social 
interaction. 
 
“Most people just want to get together to chat.” Fordham Warm hub volunteer 
 
“Most people who come to our Warm Hub are in need of company and social conversation. We 
have one gentleman living alone who had a stroke 20 years ago, a lady who was bereaved just 

Page 69



 

- 28 - 

before Christmas, a lady who is learning English as a second language, a lady who is obviously 
lonely and two couples who are living with early onset dementia (in both cases the carer needs 
company). Although these attendees are not necessarily in need of a warm hub, they are in 
need of a social hub which provides security and a safe and welcoming place to be. There are 
also other people who come just for the conversation and company.” Willingham (Octagon) 
Warm Hub volunteer. 
 
Regular users were asked what they do during their visit to the Warm Hub. Figure 12 highlights 
how people enjoy the no-pressure, social atmosphere that Warm Hubs provide with the most 
cited activities being talking to and socialising with others and taking advantage of the free hot 
drinks and food on offer. 
 
Figure 12 - Activities undertaken at Warm Hubs 

 
 
Where low key activities have been provided, many attendees have been happy to take part. 
The activities mentioned under “something else” include drawing, letter writing and crafting, 
visiting the shop within the venue, playing cards and teaching card games to others, playing 
with children’s toys provided, giving children their lunch, and working online. 
 
Officers at Cambridgeshire County Council are using appreciative enquiry skills to find out 
what helps people to live happily and healthily at home for longer. Appreciative enquiry uses 
deep listening techniques to understand issues. It focuses on what is strong (rather than what is 
wrong) and the conversations are intended to lead to a more collaborative way of working. 
 
Officers from Cambridgeshire County Council, South Cambridgeshire District Council and East 
Cambridgeshire District Council visited Warm Hubs to have conversations and collect stories 
from volunteers and service users on ‘What helps you feel warm and well in winter?’ More than 
50 volunteers and hub attendee engaged in conversations. In February 2023, Cambridgeshire 
County Council organised a ‘sense making session’ to review the emerging themes coming out 
of these conversations. 

38

2 8

43

3
14 15

9

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

I take
advantage of
the free hot
drinks and

food on offer

I take the
opportunity
to charge up

my
electronic

devices, e.g.
mobile
phone

I use the wi-
fi to get
online

I talk to and
socialise

with others

I bring my
own reading
material (or

read
materials

provided by
the Warm

Hub)

I do jigsaws
or play board

games

I take part in
any other

activities the
volunteers

organise

Something
else

What do you do during your visits to the Warm Hub?

Page 70



 

- 29 - 

 
The appreciative enquiry conversations found a small number of people using Warm Hubs in 
East Cambridgeshire because of heating problems and/or cost-of-living pressures: 
 
“My mum and dad died a couple of years ago and I live alone. I’m very cautious about using 
electricity because it costs an awful lot…I know I shouldn’t do this and don’t tell me off, but I’ve 
not used the heating this Christmas. I have a camping stove in the living room to keep me warm. 
I have three gas canisters and they last for ages. So, I get to keep warm and boil the kettle at the 
same time. Only trouble is that the canisters are very heavy. I managed to get the last one to 
the back door. I’m going to try and get the rest of the way later.” Attendee at Burwell Warm 
Hub 
 
“It is nice and warm here, good to warm up. It’s so cold in the morning in my flat. The heating 
doesn’t work in my bedroom. I’ve reported it to the Housing Association but they haven’t done 
anything.” Attendee at Soham Warm Hub 
 
“You’ve got to have the heating on in my opinion. Especially with that cold snap we’ve just had, 
even though it’s gone up. You just have to cut the costs elsewhere.” Volunteer at Little 
Downham Warm Hub 
 
“They [attendees] are finding a ‘home in the Warm Hub amongst the books and regulars and 
connections are being made. It is wonderful to see.” Volunteer at Little Downham Warm Hub 
 
Chiming with the evaluation findings, the appreciative enquiry conversations also found the 
majority of residents in East and South Cambridgeshire were visiting Warm Hubs for 
companionship and social connection: 
 
“I come here for the chance to meet other people and not really to keep warm – I’m just really 
pleased to have a social space and company.” Attendee at Haddenham & Wilburton Warm Hub 
 
“Interestingly, our active listening to visitors reveals that the cost-of-living does not dominate 
their discussions with us – there is a tacit understanding that we are all impacted by this. 
Instead, most seem to join us for company, and to socialise.” Volunteer at Haddenham & 
Wilburton Warm Hub 
  
“I come here for the company…I like that it’s friendly and relaxed, everyone just chats, there’s 
no pressure.” Attendee at Mepal Warm Hub.  
 
“This isn’t about keeping people warm, it’s about company. We have an unofficial foodbank and 
1-2 ladies take something every week.” Volunteer at Soham Warm Hub 
 
“The social aspect has been really important.” Volunteer at Comberton Warm Hub 
 
“The ‘community’ event is certainly appreciated, particularly by those who are lonely.” 
Volunteer at Landbeach Warm Hub 
 
“Most people who come to our Warm Hub are in need of company and social conversation.” 
Volunteer at Willingham (Octagon) Warm Hub  
 

Page 71



 

- 30 - 

The informal nature of the activities taking place at Warm Hub sessions, and the way in which 
local volunteers lead them, means they are trusted and service users feel listened to:  
 
“My wife died about a year ago and it was driving me mad sitting in my kitchen staring at the 
wall. I was so alone. A lovely lady from the GP practice said I should come here and it’s lovely. 
What I like most is that they don’t get bored of me. I can rabbit on and they are genuinely 
listening to me. I know I can be a bit much but I get to relax and be myself here. I come here for 
companionship; we all do.” Attendee at Burwell Warm Hub 
 
“The word I hear often is ‘burden’, “I don’t want to be a burden”, and these people don’t think 
they are worthy of conversation or your time. I wonder at what age that mentality begins to 
shift, you know, ‘I’m not interesting’? I think what the Warm Hub does is overcome that.” 
Volunteer at Fordham Warm Hub 
 
“I enjoy bringing my daughter here as they have toys for her to play with and I can chat with 
friends – the volunteers here are very welcoming.” Attendee at Haddenham & Wilburton 
Warm Hub 
 
Volunteers 
Warm Hubs have an average of 10 volunteers each. At the start and towards the end of the 
pilot volunteers were surveyed about their experiences. 101 volunteers completed the initial 
survey at the start of the project, and 65 volunteers responded to the survey at the end of the 
pilot.  
 
Volunteers responding to the surveys were asked to indicate which Warm Hub they were 
volunteering at. The results are shown in Figure 13:  
 

Page 72



 

- 31 - 

Figure 13 - Which Warm Hub do you volunteer at? 

 
 
The chart shows volunteers from across East and South Cambridgeshire responded to the 
surveys, with high response rates in Haddenham & Wilburton (East Cambridgeshire), and 
Comberton and Northstowe (South Cambridgeshire). 
 
To establish the impact of volunteering on an individual volunteer’s wellbeing; an abridged 
version of the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale was used to collect information 

3%

0%

5%

5%

5%

0%

0%

8%

2%

3%

2%

2%

2%

3%

5%

0%

3%

2%

0%

0%

0%

12%

0%

5%

3%

5%

0%

3%

0%

0%

0%

14%

3%

6%

2%

2%

0%

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16%

SC - Willingham (Octagon)

SC - Willingham (BC)

SC - Weston Colville

SC - Sawston

SC - Rampton

SC - Over

SC - Orchard Park

SC - Northstowe

SC - Milton

SC - Meldreth

SC - Melbourn

SC - Linton (SM)

SC - Linton (FC)

SC - Landbeach

SC - Horningsea

SC - Hardwick

SC - Great Shelford

SC - Grantchester

SC - Gamlingay

SC - Cottenham (VH)

SC - Cottenham (CC)

SC - Comberton

SC - Cambourne

SC - Caldecote

EC - Sutton

EC - Stetchworth

EC - Soham

EC - Mepal

EC - Littleport

EC - Little Thetford

EC - Little Downham

EC - Haddenham & Wilburton

EC - Fordham

EC - Ely

EC - Burwell

EC - Burrough Green

EC - Ashley

Which Warm Hub do you volunteer at?

Page 73



 

- 32 - 

from those willing to provide it. The charts shown as Figures 14 and 15 compare the results 
from the initial survey with those who responded at the end of the pilot. 
 
Figure 14 - Results to statement "I've been feeling optimistic about the future" 

   
 
There was an increase of 2 percentage points for the respondents choosing ‘Some of the time’, 
‘Often’ or ‘All of the time’, between the initial survey (95%) and the repeat survey (97%). 
 
Figure 15 - Results to statement "I've been feeling useful" 

   
 

22%

40%

33%

3% 2%

Responses from Nov-2022

All of the time Often

Some of the time Rarely

None of the time

23%

27%

47%

0%3%

Responses from Mar-2023

All of the time Often

Some of the time Rarely

None of the time

24%

49%

22%

3%1%

Responses from Nov-2022

All of the time Often

Some of the time Rarely

None of the time

20%

60%

20%

0%0%

Responses from Mar-2023

All of the time Often

Some of the time Rarely

None of the time

Page 74



 

- 33 - 

There was an increase of 5 percentage points for the respondents choosing ‘Some of the time’, 
‘Often’ or ‘All of the time’, between the initial survey (95%) and the repeat survey (100%). 
 
The increases in these two questions suggest that, in volunteering, volunteers have been 
exposed to some of the better aspects of human nature and these might lead to growing 
feelings of optimism about the future. Similarly, through volunteering, they have seen the 
difference they are making to the lives of others and this might make them feel they are 
performing a useful role. 
 
Volunteers were asked to rate their experience of volunteering at a Warm Hub. 88% of 
respondents felt their Warm Hub volunteering had been a positive experience (43% Very 
Positive and 45% Positive) as shown in Figure 16. 
 
Figure 16 - Rating on overall Warm Hub volunteering experience 

 
 
Volunteers described how they had benefitted from volunteering at a Warm Hub: 
 
“We have a great group of volunteers who support each other. The visitors are very chatty and 
inclusive of other visitors making the whole experience of volunteering a joy.” 
 
“I feel the Warm Hub also gives me a positive feeling about myself as well because I have made 
friends and it is great to be able to give something back to my community.” 
 
“It [volunteering at the Warm Hub] has been an opportunity to meet other people and start 
feeling part of the community.” 
 
“I've met lots of interesting people I might otherwise not cross paths with. I've learnt a lot about 
the village having only lived here 1.5 years.” 

43%

45%

12%
0%0%

How would you rate your overall Warm Hub volunteering experience?

Very Positive Positive Neutral Negative Very Negative

Page 75



 

- 34 - 

“This is a wonderful, shared experience…an amazing community collaboration. We have tapped 
into a reservoir of goodwill, compassion and generosity. A few service users have been so taken 
by the warmth of welcome they have joined our team of volunteers.” 
 
“The sense of achievement and being valued is immense.” 
 
“As a widow of 4 years and retiree unexpectedly at 57 years, this volunteer position has 
enabled me to engage with my local community and I feel I have received as much as I give. I 
now know more people on my street and in my village making me feel less isolated as well as 
useful.” 
 
“It has been nice to feel useful and provide a safe space for people in the community who need 
it.” 
 
“We have welcomed the ideas, skills, experience, and constructive criticism of all our 
volunteers. I believe that this sharing is the most important attitude that we should promote in 
an initiative such as this.” 
 
“We have had a good turnout of people and had lots of fun while offering a warm, safe space for 
people to spend time.” 
 
Some Warm Hubs highlighted how their attendees had become volunteers: 
 
“A few [attendees] who have bravely stepped over the threshold and admitted to their 
loneliness have been so taken by the warmth of welcome they have joined our team of 
volunteers and become a great asset.” 
 
 
3.2. What difference are they making? 
Warm Hubs have been supporting service users with multiple and complex needs. In East 
Cambridgeshire, the following examples were provided: 
 
“Generally, individuals with dementia are being supported, individuals that have been homeless 
are being supported, individuals that are lonely are being supported.” Fordham Warm Hub 
volunteer 
 
“I bring my husband. He has dementia. I’ve seen a real change in him since we started coming 
here. He didn’t want to go anywhere before this…Now he asks if we’re going out most days 
which he just wasn’t interested in before.” Attendee at Fordham Warm Hub 
 
“We’ve met seven people with dementia already. The thing carers tell us they really want is 
respite, and it’s not happening, they’re upset. One guy was in tears, he needs a break.” 
Volunteer at Soham Warm Hub 
 
In South Cambridgeshire, the following example was provided: 
 
“You see he’s just lonely. He comes in with bottles in his bag and I have a laugh with him. He just 
needs someone to talk to. He did really open up; he’s got intelligent conversation and knows he 
has a drinking problem.” Anonymous volunteer 

Page 76



 

- 35 - 

 
100% of the regular attendees responding to the short survey carried out in February 2023 
said that they felt attending the Warm Hub was helping them get through the winter. 
 
“It has helped my mental health and I have found company and a reason to get out of bed. I 
would like to continue meeting new people and doing activities.” Anonymous attendee 
 
Warm Hubs have been supporting attendees to connect with others in their local community. 
In East Cambridgeshire, the following examples were given:  
 
“Certainly, the Warm Hub has highlighted issues within our village and we can point them 
[attendees] in the right direction to get help… As well as being a warm place to meet, we 
provide a listening ear and help people to form friendships.” Haddenham & Wilburton Warm 
Hub volunteer 
 
“Our Warm Hub has been very successful in introducing new people, all living alone to each 
other; making new, and re-establishing old, connections.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
In South Cambridgeshire, the following examples were highlighted:  
 
“We have been able to link up villagers with the same interests…village history, art and music.” 
Horningsea Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“Our Warm Hub has in the words of the Sheltered Estates Office ‘revitalised’ the Community 
Hall. We have invited local residents to attend Warm Hub sessions and this has given them the 
opportunity of meeting other local people and to use/share their facility and equipment.” 
Melbourn Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“I think some of the families have found the free hot food – particularly being able to feed their 
children before going home – really valuable.” Comberton Warm Hub volunteer 
 
Warm Hubs have also signposted service users to other advice and support services. In East 
Cambridgeshire, the following examples were given: 
 
“To access advice on housing, debt, food banks and transport.” Fordham Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“I have looked up information on the Household Support Fund for an attendee.” Littleport 
Warm Hub volunteer 
 
In South Cambridgeshire, the following instances were highlighted: 
 
“One of our volunteers helped two attendees to sort out problems with their mobile phones. 
He spent about 2 hours with one attendee.” Meldreth Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“To access details and information of what is included in a funeral plan.” Grantchester Warm 
Hub volunteer 
 
“The lead volunteer has booked CAB appointments for three attendees.” Melbourn Warm Hub 
volunteer 

Page 77



 

- 36 - 

 
“The wellbeing specialist from the local health centre attends many sessions.” Sawston Warm 
Hub volunteer 
 
“A service user was looking for number of shop mobility in Cambridge. They returned the next 
week to thank the volunteer as it had enabled them to borrow an electric wheelchair and move 
about Cambridge independently.” Great Shelford Warm Hub volunteer 
 
Three regular service users responding to the short survey in February 2023 reported that the 
Warm Hub had led them to get help from another organisation. The first had contacted 
Cambridgeshire County Council’s Highways Team, the second had been referred to a 
Bereavement Support Service and the third person had been helped to contact Citizens Advice, 
South Cambridgeshire District Council and Hope CIC. Crucially, all three stated that without 
the help of volunteers at their Warm Hub, they would not have known who to approach for 
help. 
 
Social Return on Investment (SROI) is a way of developing a value for some of the less tangible 
outcomes resulting from Warm Hubs. SROI provides a wider view of what is being achieved – 
measuring broader societal outcomes. 
 
During the pilot, the eight project outcomes were identified as shown in Table 8: 
 
Table 8: Project outcomes 

Outcome East 
Cambridgeshire 

South 
Cambridgeshire 

Total 

1. Number of Warm Hubs 
supported by Cambridgeshire 
ACRE to open and operate. 

13 25 38 

2. Number of volunteers 
receiving training to run a 
Warm Hub. 

51 105 156 

3. Number of volunteers 
benefitting from running a 
Warm Hub. 

49 101 150 

4. Number of Warm Hub 
attendees regularly attending 
Warm Hubs. 

4,745 6,180 10,924 

5. Number of Warm Hub 
attendees reporting reduced 
social isolation. 

3,701 4,820 8,521 

6. Number of Warm Hub 
attendees accessing other 
services through Warm Hubs. 

503 655 1,159 

7. Number of Warm Hub 
attendee households 
benefitting from 
energy/heating information 
and advice. 

1,797 2,341 4,138 

Page 78



 

- 37 - 

Outcome East 
Cambridgeshire 

South 
Cambridgeshire 

Total 

8. Number of Warm Hub 
attendees attending a Warm 
Hub to cope with cost-of-living 
pressures. 

1,329 1,730 3,059 

 
Information collected from volunteers and hub attendees on their outcomes was then aligned 
to an accredited measurement tool called the Social Value Engine (SVE)1. This sourced a 
financial proxy for each of the eight outcome areas listed in Table 8. Each of the eight outcome 
areas and financial proxies were then adjusted to take account of the following deflators: 

• Deadweight: what would have happened anyway, without attendees going to a Warm 
Hub? 

• Attribution: what proportion of other organisations/agencies may have contributed to 
these outcomes?  

• Drop off: what proportion of the outcomes will volunteers and attendees sustain and 
what proportion will deteriorate over time?  

 
Annexes G and H show how these outcomes and deflators have been applied in East 
Cambridgeshire and South Cambridgeshire respectively.   
 
These figures have then been divided by the inputs i.e. the amount of funding drawn down and 
volunteer time. Dividing the net value of these impacts at their present value [i.e., discounted 
following HM Treasury norms] by these input costs shows that £4.50 of social value has been 
delivered for every £1.00 invested in Warm Hubs across East and South Cambridgeshire. In 
East Cambridgeshire the figure is £5.21, and in South Cambridgeshire £4.19. The wider, 
societal benefits of the pilot have been focused on:  

• Providing attendees with regular opportunities to come together and meet in a local 
community building. This has led attendees to report a reduction in social isolation.  

• Attendees have not only benefitted from the support provided by volunteers at their 
local Warm Hub but have also accessed support from other service providers and 
agencies – this has helped them and their family/household to help them stay warm 
and well over the winter period (e.g. energy, food and money advice).    

 
HM Treasury guidance on cost benefit analysis, which provides the foundations of SROI, 
identifies a ratio of 1:2 as acceptable and over 2 as good; therefore, Warm Hubs have 
generated a good level of social value. The social return on investment for the whole pilot is 
summarised in the wiring diagram overleaf (Figure 17): 
 

 
1 https://socialvalueengine.com/  

Page 79

https://socialvalueengine.com/


 

- 38 - 

Figure 17 - Social Return on Investment delivered 

 

 
Dividing the net value of the impact of each outcome by the input costs shows that Warm Hubs in East and South Cambridgeshire have delivered 
£4.50 of social value for every £1.00 invested in them.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 80



 

- 39 - 

4. Learning so far 
 
 
Warm Hubs has been a pilot project running over a six month period during winter months. 
This has helped to build learning around what does and does not work and acted as a 
mechanism for building continuous improvement into the project. 
 
 
4.1. What has been successful? 
Every Warm Hub is different and has evolved to suit local needs, volunteer and service user 
requirements and vision. Their activities will vary, but all offer refreshments, Wi-Fi and the 
Advice and Support Programme. 
 
Warm Hubs have been shaped by local community needs, and the activities and support that 
can be provided to keep local residents safe, well, and happy. This has involved engaging with 
people before the Warm Hubs opened, and listening to their suggestions and feedback since 
they began. 
 
“It has been good to see how word of mouth has raised the profile of the Warm Hub and we are 
still seeing new people attend.” Comberton Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“It is gaining momentum as word spreads in the village that it is a warm, social hub to come and 
have a cup of tea and a chat.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
Warm Hubs have provided new and innovative opportunities for local volunteering. This has 
encouraged new people to come forward and volunteer, beyond the usual cohort.  
 
“It’s so sad that Warm Hubs are needed but I’m so pleased that I’m helping people that need 
them at this time.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
“The main point that volunteering in a Warm Hub has brought to mind is that obviously there 
are several ways in which Warm Hubs can be a blessing to people, especially in the current 
financial situation that people find themselves in.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
“For me, it feels good to meet people and communicate with them. I feel good when I leave at 
the end of a session.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
“I have enjoyed volunteering and meeting new people.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
 Warm Hubs are providing informal health and wellbeing support at a hyper-local level. Warm 
Hubs have been supporting vulnerable residents, and those with multiple and complex needs, 
to self-care and manage long term conditions. More broadly, they have encouraged residents 
to take a more active role in their own health and wellbeing.   
 
“It [the Warm Hub] is proving useful in combatting feelings of loneliness and isolation.” 
Anonymous volunteer 
 
“I feel this service is invaluable, not only to those struggling but to the wider community as a 
means to socialise, be heard, and to help combat loneliness.” Anonymous volunteer 

Page 81



 

- 40 - 

 
Warm Hubs have provided a pathway for people to access other statutory and community 
services. Volunteers described how Cambridgeshire ACRE had provided them with an 
overview of other services, and responded to queries so attendees could access other help.   
 
“I spoke to [name of member of staff at Cambridgeshire ACRE] about some concerns we had 
with one of our attendees. She put me in touch with our local social prescribers who visited the 
Hub. They informed us of their role and how they could help our attendees. They were friendly, 
informal and attendees asked questions. We hope they will be regular visitors.” Meldreth 
Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“Such a worthwhile activity. Appreciative of the financial support available and there’s always 
somebody at Cambridgeshire ACRE able to respond to queries.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
Warm Hubs are concerned with building community capacity and peer support. This is 
increasing the ability of local residents to support themselves.  
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE has facilitated the pilot. They have provided initial and ongoing support 
to Warm Hubs. This has led to an affiliated network of Warm Hubs and has meant the project 
could offer much more than if communities had been left to do it alone. Volunteers are not free, 
and Cambridgeshire ACRE has ensured proper arrangements are in place to support them. 
 
“We have pushed the Cambridgeshire ACRE principles from the beginning and done our very 
best to embed these in our practice.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
“There has been good communication and very helpful and prompt advice to queries…overall, 
good communication and a pleasure to be a part of.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
 
4.2. Added value 
Every Warm Hub receives funding from Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Integrated Care 
System’s South Place Partnership to open for up to 6 hours a week although many opened for 
longer and/or over more days. The list in Annex D shows the number of hours each Warm hub 
opened on a weekly basis and over how many days. 
 
In East Cambridgeshire, the Warm Hubs which opened for more than six hours per week were 
those at: Burwell, Haddenham & Wilburton and Little Downham. In South Cambridgeshire, the 
Warm Hubs which opened for more than six hours per week were those at: Cambourne, 
Gamlingay (Eco Hub), Great Shelford, Sawston and Weston Colville. 
 
Warm Hubs have been able to extend their opening hours and/or the activities on offer 
through identifying and securing other financial support, often with assistance from 
Cambridgeshire ACRE. Funding has been secured from other charities, parish councils, church 
funds and private sponsorship. 
 
“Our decision to open 5 days per week has meant a lot of effort to gain sponsorship, but with 
success.” Anonymous volunteer 
 

Page 82



 

- 41 - 

While word-of-mouth has been important in promoting the project, some Warm Hubs have 
developed and distributed leaflets through residents’ doors. This is something that Hubs have 
done for themselves outside of the available project funding. 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE has put specific support structures in place that respond to identified 
community needs. For some people, these structures have been a crucial element in 
encouraging them to volunteer at Warm Hubs and in making volunteering possible. This has led 
some Warm Hubs to work together outside of formal Warm Hub sessions to shape their offer.  
 
“We held a well-attended volunteer team meeting…over 20 of our 31 active volunteers 
attended…volunteers were invited to complete a SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, 
Opportunities and Threats review)…there was a lively and very productive discussion. The 
outcome has been a strengthened team, shared approaches and skills, plus greater consistency 
of our offer.” Haddenham & Wilburton Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“The administration is, at least initially, considerably more of a burden than the physical tasks 
involved in running a Warm hub…However, I appreciate that this is a necessary feature of life 
today and Cambridgeshire ACRE has to make sure that neither it, nor any of us, are exposed to 
potential liability in case of any mishap.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE has quantified the value of volunteer hours at a median hourly pay rate 
for each District. In East Cambridgeshire, volunteers have provided 6,783 hours of 
volunteering time that would be value at over £106k; and in South Cambridgeshire, 12,565 
hours have been provided valued at over £261k. Lead volunteers estimate that they spend two 
additional hours each week administering their Warm Hub – this time is not included in these 
volunteering time figures. 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE has produced marketing and promotional materials for Warm Hub 
volunteers to amend and use; and developed an Advice and Support Programme. Working 
with partners at Creative Arts East, Warm Hubs were able to book accessible and engaging arts 
workshops. All of these things were not in the original brief for the pilot. One Warm Hub has 
been particularly enthusiastic about bringing art/performance activities to its attendees, 
organising one live puppet show through Creative Arts East and one musical performance. 
 
“It has been reassuring to have the information available in the Advice & Support Programme 
booklet handbook, and we would be very happy if this was maintained and kept up to date 
beyond the end of the Warm Hub project so that we know where to look in the future for 
reliable sources of information and support.” Gamlingay (Eco Hub) Warm Hub volunteer 
 
The monthly networking sessions coordinated by Cambridgeshire ACRE have led to 
community-to-community learning with volunteers visiting other Warm Hubs. For example, 
Little Thetford Warm Hub extended an invitation to other Hubs to come along and see what 
they do and how they run. 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE has shared learning and practice with stakeholders. In March 2023, 
Cambridgeshire ACRE organised a learning event to share practice from the Warm Hubs pilot 
alongside the other warm space programmes running across Cambridgeshire. In addition to 
highlighting the work undertaken in each District, there was a discussion around whether 
warm hubs/spaces have been successful and how they might evolve for communities in the 

Page 83



 

- 42 - 

future. At a national level, Cambridgeshire ACRE delivered a presentation on Warm Hubs at an 
Action with Communities in Rural England (ACRE) event attended by chief executives of rural 
community councils from across England. In June 2023, Cambridgeshire ACRE will be 
highlighting this work at a seminar organised by the Open University on community hubs. The 
Warm Hubs in Winter initiative also features in a short film made by Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough Integrated Care System’s South Place Partnership (link to be added here once 
film is finalised and published).  
 
 
4.3. What has worked less well? 
The original brief was for Warm Hubs to support vulnerable and isolated people, as well as 
those on low incomes, to mitigate the cost-of-living crisis. In the pilot phase, it is clear that the 
majority of service users are not primarily or regularly attending sessions to get help with 
heating/energy bills and access to other financial support; rather they are attending for 
companionship and the social connection. While people who are more socially connected with 
fulfilling relationships can have fewer health problems and live happier lives, some volunteers 
and stakeholders have queried if Warm Hubs have reached those most affected by cost-of-
living pressures. 
 
While the majority of Warm Hubs have had consistently high attendance at sessions with a mix 
of regular and new attendees; others have experienced lower attendance. Cambridgeshire 
ACRE provided one-to-one tailored support to Warm Hubs looking to increase the number of 
attendees. 
 
Some volunteers have queried if the title ‘Warm Hubs’ was off-putting to those who would 
benefit the most. 
 
“I think people in Sutton are proud, people don’t want to be seen as needing support, or for 
people to know that they can’t put their heating on. And I think whilst things are getting tighter, 
most people in Sutton are managing. They’re proud people too and don’t want others knowing 
their business. If they’re struggling, they don’t want to advertise that, it’s a private thing.” 
Sutton Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“We have had to do a lot of talking to people around it being for coffee and conversation. 
Various comments have been made about people thinking others judge that they have not got 
enough money to pay their bills or that it is a church thing, or that it is not for all age groups.” 
Anonymous volunteer 
 
“The need for the Warm Hub has highlighted the need for more free community social spaces. 
Some people who would benefit from the social aspects are put off by the Warm Hub label as it 
suggests they are in need.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
“We wonder if the title ‘Warm Hub’ has created a little bit of a stigma with some residents who 
do not want to be seen as not able to afford to heat their homes. It is felt by volunteers that it 
could be marketed more of a ‘community hub’ where anyone can go for some company.” 
Anonymous volunteer 
 

Page 84



 

- 43 - 

“It [a Warm Hub] needs to be attractive so people want to come and not feel a stigma about 
coming. This could prove useful in combating feelings of isolation and loneliness as well as 
providing a warm environment.” Linton (St Mary’s Church) Warm Hub volunteer 
 
On the one hand, volunteers at some Warm Hubs with low attendance told us there was no 
need for this provision as other groups and services were in place. On the other hand, setting 
up a Warm Hub within an existing activity was advantageous. 
 
“The Hubs that built on existing things have had much better responses than those started 
from scratch…here we get more. The needs are very different in different communities.” Little 
Thetford Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“The low numbers attending and their limited needs do not suggest there is a significant 
requirement in this community for an extended Warm Hub.” Cottenham (Community Centre) 
Warm Hub volunteer 
 
Due to the short lead-in time to get Warm Hubs operational, volunteers had to run sessions 
when a venue had a slot(s) available. This limited when and where Warm Hubs could be open. 
 
“In my opinion, the initial advertising for the Warm Hubs commenced too late and the opening 
of our Hub was hit by the extreme weather, snow etc. which meant people were unwilling to 
come out. There also appears to be a reluctance to come to our Hub as church volunteers run 
it.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
“We are keeping our hours of opening under review. One possibility would be to open following 
the end of the school day at the local primary school, and we are investigating whether parents 
would find this useful.” Mepal Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“Nice for those people who do attend but a bit of a problem sharing with the village toddler 
group. Some attendees do not like the noise and, if we are to continue, I think it should be on a 
different day.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
“We’ve had disappointing numbers and have a plan underway to trial a new location at the 
centre of a sheltered housing complex.” Sawston Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“Yes, there is a need in the community for the services offered by our Warm Hub to be 
extended, but to succeed it would need to be in a different location i.e., one with more footfall 
where people could pop in and try us while passing.” Milton Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“I’m not sure if our location in the church has also put some people off both as it is quite a way 
for some of those who would be needing it to travel (especially when cold) but also if they are 
not religious they may not feel comfortable going to the church.” Great Shelford Warm Hub 
volunteer 
 
“We are considering better advertising and targeting places in the village and in particular 
shops such as the pharmacy.” Linton (St Mary’s Church) Warm Hub volunteer 
 
In East Cambridgeshire, two Warm Hubs experienced low attendance; Ashley and Sutton. At 
Ashley, a decision was taken to reduce the Warm Hubs opening to just once per month and the 

Page 85



 

- 44 - 

single monthly session now gets good attendance. At Sutton, despite the best efforts of the 
Parish Council who led on organisation, attendance remained low and the Hub closed at end of 
February. 
 
In South Cambridgeshire, a number of Hubs reported what they felt to be poor attendance on 
first opening. However, in most cases this was due to volunteers’ perception of what ‘good’ 
attendance would look like and numbers have grown steadily in most cases. This also reflects 
back on the fact that many attendees learnt about their Warm Hub via ‘word of mouth’ and 
therefore attendance typically grows as more people attend and then tell others about the 
Hub. 
 
The Warm Hubs at Cottenham (both the Community Centre and the Village Hall) have seen 
low attendance throughout, perhaps as a result of there being plenty of other community-
based activities taking place locally. One of the Warm Hubs at Linton, that based at the Free 
Church, has seen low attendance, whilst the other one, based at St Mary’s Church, has seen 
reasonable attendance. 
 
The Warm Hub at Orchard Park did not really take off. Run by the Parish Council, it was felt 
that as the homes in the community are fairly new and well-insulated, residents perhaps did not 
see the need for a ‘warm hub’. The parish council decided to stop operating the hub in mid-
January. 
 
The Warm Hub based in Over Community Centre has also seen low/no attendance. This is 
primarily due to the fact that the building is open five days a week for anyone to drop in, but 
there has been no particular lead volunteer to drive efforts to draw people in. 
 
The Warm Hub at Sawston demonstrates the need to choose the right venue. The Hub has 
moved location three times since being set up. The first venue chosen had little or no 
attendance; the second venue showed some improvement; but it wasn’t until the Hub moved to 
its third location that attendance numbers really took off and now the Hub is very successful in 
terms of its number of visitors. 
 
While the project was intended to be based on strong partnership working, a formal Advice and 
Support Programme was not part of the pilot’s original scope. When the project was scoped out 
it was anticipated that 10 Warm Hubs would operate with service providers visiting the Hubs. 
It was not feasible for service providers to deliver face-to-face across the 38 Warm Hubs 
operating in East and South Cambridgeshire. 
 
While volunteers and Cambridgeshire ACRE were able to refer service users to other 
organisations, some queried the role of other bodies in referring people who might benefit into 
their nearest Warm Hub. 
 
“Are people informed about the Warm Hubs close to them through social services or NHS 
contacts?” Anonymous volunteer 
 
The hand-off and referral of attendees to other services is still developing. This requires a 
balance between the requirements of volunteers and attendees for Warm Hubs to be 
‘informal’, with the need to better link up with statutory services. 
 

Page 86



 

- 45 - 

“I have enjoyed the experience [of volunteering], on the whole, although we have had 
individuals present with very challenging behaviour… several people with mental health issues 
and autism. We have had to involve medical and mental health services on several discrete 
occasions.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
“Even without the Warm Hub aspect, it’s a brilliant social place for people. If you need someone 
to talk to, you can. It’s company… but if it came to dealing with more specialised needs, us 
volunteers would struggle. We’re not here to care for them. We’re not insured for that or 
qualified.” Haddenham & Wilburton Warm Hub volunteer. 
 
Alongside this, digital exclusion has been greater than anticipated. In particular there is a need 
for both hardware (devices) and upskilling people (digital skills). 
 
“Volunteers have mobiles and are able to use these to support signposting; we do not have 
access to laptops in the Warm Hub… So much information, advice and guidance is now online 
and significant numbers [of attendees] are not able to access due to lack of skills or equipment.” 
Haddenham & Wilburton Warm Hub volunteer  
 
“As we provide free wi-fi, we have seen more people come, work from the café, as well as 
connect with others who need digital help in the space.” Gamlingay (Baptist Church) Warm Hub 
volunteer 
 
Photo 7 - Attendees at Burwell Warm Hub watching a volunteer play his guitar 

 
 
 

Page 87



 

- 46 - 

5. Where next 
 
 
“Warm Hubs might evolve into something longer-term that meets the needs of the 
community and that allows people to support others in their community at a hyper-local 
level within an integrated health and social care system.” Alison Brown, Warm Hubs Project 
Manager, Cambridgeshire ACRE 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE has been working with volunteers leading Warm Hubs and local 
authority and ICS/NHS partners to consider how Warm Hubs can continue to evolve to meet 
the needs of their local communities. 
 
Regular Warm Hub attendees have told us that they want year-round provision, and 
volunteers have said that they believe year-round hub-style provision is needed. 
 
“The needs witnessed in recent months are not seasonal but are evident throughout the year.” 
Haddenham & Wilburton Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“We are so busy with our Warm Hub and I feel more people would attend if it was available 
more days. Further funding to be able to open for more hours would be needed. It has proved 
to be an essential requirement for our village. But future funding is a must, with more help for 
communities to extend the length of time that hubs are available because it is so much more 
than having somewhere to go if you are having difficulties with your budget.” Anonymous 
volunteer 
 
“The Warm Hub should morph into a social centre.” Anonymous volunteer 
 
100% of the regular attendees responding to the short survey in February 2023 said they felt 
there was a role for the Warm Hub year-round, i.e., they wished to see it continue past the end 
of March 2023. 
 
“It is a fantastic way to bring the community together and I feel in the warmer weather it will 
attract different people who might be looking to meet other people due to loneliness which will 
lead to more users next winter. I feel it has already done a lot of good but needs more time to 
really establish what a great local resource it is.” Anonymous attendee 
 
In East Cambridgeshire, 10 Warm Hubs are going to continue to operate during April 2023 (see 
Annex D), with just three of the original 13 closing their doors. 9 of these hubs have expressed 
an interest in evolving into longer-term community hubs if appropriate support can be 
provided. 
 
In South Cambridgeshire, 16 Warm Hubs are going to continue to operate during April and 
May 2023 (see Annex D), with nine of the original 25 closing their doors. 15 of these hubs have 
expressed an interest in evolving into longer-term community hubs if appropriate support can 
be provided. 
 
At a local level, volunteers and attendees have considered what their offer for year-round 
provision might look like. 
 

Page 88



 

- 47 - 

“We are planning to offer a reduced service all year round to support our regular vulnerable 
users as we feel this continued support is needed. We are lucky to have received support in the 
form of food donations from local people but foresee that we would need continued support 
during winter months with electricity costs.” Stetchworth Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“The Warm Hub has already demonstrated as well, there is a huge desire in the community for 
a space where people can meet each other. On average, about five new households move into 
Northstowe every week, so there is a big need for people to meet others when they are new in 
town and are unlikely to know other people (people come literally form all over the world here 
as well) and also to find information about services and community initiatives they could join… 
Northstowe is full of very community-minded people and plenty of great ideas, but there is a 
very clear need for a central space where all such activities (and information provision) can 
work its best magic.” Northstowe Warm Hub volunteer 
 
“The social aspect has been really important. I don’t think we’d look at opening for so long or 
twice a week – but a couple of hours hub drop-in would be valued.” Comberton Warm Hub 
volunteer 
 
“The perfect Community Hub would provide free refreshments with the opportunity to 
socialise, offer support and play games.” Melbourn Warm Hub volunteer  
 
“We have been visited by people new to the village, elderly people who come for company, 
Ukrainian residents from the village who come to meet villagers. We are providing a safe space 
and a packed lunch for children in half term that have been left all day whilst their parents 
work. We would also provide a community coffee morning offering food and drink to purchase 
as well as free drinks and snacks.” Caldecote Warm Hub volunteer 
 
Regular attendees were also asked for suggestions for activities and services that they would 
like to see provided, or things that they would like to see happen. The majority of attendees 
would like to see social activities rather than formal, organised activities. Other suggestions 
included: 

• Extending the refreshment provision so that lunch and/or snacks can be provided. 
• Help to use technical devices (e.g. mobile phone, iPad, tablets, laptops). 
• Offering indoor sports and fitness activities (e.g. bowls). 
• More information about public services (e.g. leaflets, booklets) and advice to find out 

the benefits they are entitled to claim and how to manage their money (e.g. Citizens 
Advice). 

 
At a strategic level, some consideration has been given as to how Warm Hubs might be the 
conduit through which community health and wellbeing approaches might be introduced. A 
variety of developments are being explored, including: 

• Social prescribing / social navigation: better, formal links between Warm Hubs and 
social prescribers to maximise opportunities for community-led referrals to non-
medical services. This could include giving people links to nature-based interventions 
and activities (green social prescribing). 

• Community agents / village agents: employed staff who are given a number of 
communities to work with and who provide residents with confidential, practical, 
community-based solutions for individuals in each place. 

Page 89



 

- 48 - 

• Good neighbour schemes: local groups of volunteers providing practical help and 
support within their community. A network of schemes could be developed from 
current Warm Hubs. 

• Buddying up or befriending volunteers: volunteer buddies work alongside those 
isolated in their community to make small changes to improve their lives. Warm Hub 
volunteers could take ownership of Buddy Up within their own community. 

• Talking cafes: these could take place face-to-face at a community hub and/or online so 
residents can pop in for advice and support from volunteers or for a friendly chat. 

 
Cambridgeshire ACRE has been helping Warm Hubs to consider how they can raise funds to 
match any publicly available funds to extend provision. 
 
“I believe going forward our community hub can be self-sufficient. Tapping into best practice 
and having a contact point for advice is good.” Fordham Warm Hub volunteer 
 
Photo 8 - Volunteer at Cambourne Warm hub serving hot drinks 

 
 
Overall, some clear common themes have emerged from the pilot which could be picked up in a 
successor initiative(s): 
 

1. Digital exclusion makes it harder for attendees to access online information and 
services. This can be due to lack of skills, equipment, or connectivity. Warm Hub 
volunteers have assisted attendees to access information online and/or to book 
appointments. This has relied on volunteers using their own device. “One volunteer has 
offered to help residents with IT issues while he is on site.” Great Shelford Warm Hub 
volunteer. In any future project, providing community venues with equipment and 

Page 90



 

- 49 - 

upskilling volunteers and attendees to get online and stay online is important. 
Volunteers have found the monthly online networking sessions useful and there is also 
an opportunity to build an online platform to host training, information and share 
learning between Hubs. 

 
2. The lack of public transport in rural areas makes it more challenging for residents 

without access a car to visit their nearest Hub. “If we advertised that we – or any Warm 
Hub – could give people a lift I’m not sure we would be able to cope with the number of 
requests… it does weigh on my mind.” Anonymous volunteer. There is a need to identify 
and develop local transport solutions so that residents who will benefit from a Hub are 
able to attend if they wish. 

 
3. There is a need for better communication and referral links between local communities 

and health and care providers. Attendees are not aware of other services that are 
available, or how to access them. While staff working in primary care settings have 
visited some Warm Hubs, it has been difficult to articulate what the ‘offer’ or ‘capacity’ 
from service providers registering in the Advice and Support Programme is. Volunteers 
have been supporting attendees with dementia, mental health issues, caring 
responsibilities, frailty, housing issues, and other unmet needs and daily struggles. 
Developing a more structured and real-time understanding of what support is available 
and how volunteers and hub attendees can access it would be beneficial. 

 
4. The pilot has ensured volunteers have access to all the support and resources they need 

to offer a warm, welcoming and safe place. The pilot has also highlighted a long-term 
lack of investment in community buildings. There were a few instances of Warm Hubs 
sessions needing to close due to heating failures. Some Warm Hubs do not have a 
separate space available for attendees to use to meet providers and/or have 
confidential discussions. More widely, outdated equipment and spiralling maintenance 
backlogs highlights disinvestment. Physical improvements to community buildings will 
not only benefit Hubs but also strengthen their relations to other community groups 
and service providers. 

 
 

Page 91



 

- 50 - 

Annex A: Timeline for Warm Hubs in Winter project 
 
 

Milestone Achieved 

Project confirmed with SCDC/ECDC and inception meeting held. 30-Aug-2022 
Cambridgeshire ACRE staff team set up to manage project and detailed 
project workplan in place. 

31-Aug-2022 

Parish councils and village hall management committees consulted 
regarding running Hubs in their communities to establish pilot participants. 

5-Sep-2022 

External marketing organisation appointed to help develop materials to 
raise awareness of the Hubs in communities and to encourage people to 
attend. 

5-Sep-2022 

Online event held with potential partners to promote Warm Hubs, 
followed by questionnaire to understand the services they might provide 
to the Hubs. 

12-Sep-2022 

External evaluation organisation appointed to support the development of 
a suitable monitoring framework, to undertake ongoing analysis and end-
point evaluation of work. 

13-Sep-2022 

Volunteer training session materials written and signed off.   30-Sep-2022 
Initial training rolled out to all Hub volunteers. 4-Oct-2022 
Volunteers supported to establish Warm Hubs ready to open in Oct-2022. 14-Oct-2022 
Connections established with local health and social care providers and 
Hub volunteers supported to book support sessions to be delivered in 
early days of the Hubs. 

17-Oct-2022 

Links made to SCDC/ECDC communications team to deliver local 
community-based communications (e.g. leaflets, mobile vehicle) to raise 
visibility of Hubs with community members. 

17-Oct-2022 

Doors opened at three Hubs in South Cambridgeshire and two Hubs in 
East Cambridgeshire. 

31-Oct-2022 

Volunteers supported with running of hubs, communication materials and 
ongoing training needs.  

30-Nov-2022 

Doors opened at three further Hubs in South Cambridgeshire and two 
further Hubs in East Cambridgeshire. 

30-Nov-2022 

Mid-Term Evaluation Meeting with Partners held. 31-Dec-2022 
Volunteers supported with running of hubs, communication materials and 
ongoing training needs. 

31-Dec-2022 

Volunteers supported with establishing Hubs’ sustainability going forward 
including looking at funding available to continue.  

28-Feb-2023 

Online event held to disseminate the successes and learning from the pilot 
Warm Hubs, including participation from volunteers and those who have 
benefited from attending a Hub. 

8-Mar-2023 

Evaluation of Warm Hubs pilot completed with a report produced on 
successes and learning. 

30-Apr-2023 

Page 92



 

- 51 - 

Annex B: Warm Hub volunteer roles 
 
 
There are several volunteering roles required within a Warm Hub to spread the workload and 
make them successful: 
 

• Warm Hub Lead Volunteer - The overall co-ordinator of the Hub and the main liaison 
with the Cambridgeshire ACRE Warm Hub Co-ordinators. This individual will take 
overall responsibility for the set-up of the Warm Hub including: 

o booking the venue and organising a rota of volunteers to ensure sufficient cover 
at each session delivered. 

o ensuring their Warm Hubs has all the policies and procedures it needs to 
operate safely and smoothly. 

o setting up a meeting prior to the Warm Hub opening its doors with all 
volunteers to ensure everyone is comfortable on how the Hub will operate and 
what their role(s) will be. 

o inducting any new volunteers who start to volunteer at the Warm Hub once the 
initial opening period has passed. 

o liaising with service providers on activities that might be brought into the Hub 
for community benefit. 

o collecting data on attendance and to evaluate the success (or otherwise) of the 
Warm Hub. 

o completing regular claims to access the financial support their Hub needs from 
Cambridgeshire ACRE. 

o acting as Cambridgeshire ACRE’s main point of the contact for the Warm Hub, 
receiving information by email and distributing to other volunteers. 

o attending a short, online monthly networking session where all Warm Hub 
Volunteers will get together to share experiences. 

 
• Warm Hub Welcomers - These volunteers will work to create a welcoming atmosphere 

for all residents who attend a Warm Hub through being present to listen to residents’ 
stories and needs, supporting people to take part and being available to offer 
encouragement and friendship to all those attending. 

 
• Warm Hub Promoter - This volunteer will work alongside Cambridgeshire ACRE team 

to promote the Warm Hub to their community, e.g. putting up posters, supporting social 
media activity and using word of mouth by attending other groups to spread the word. 

 
• Warm Hub Health & Safety Lead – It is suggested that all Warm Hubs identify a 

volunteer willing to take on this role. This person will be responsible for conducting risk 
assessments and safeguarding issues. They will be provided with additional training so 
they can become their Warm Hub’s designated first aider. Where a Warm Hub cannot 
identify an additional volunteer to take on this role, these responsibilities will fall to the 
Lead Volunteer. 

 
• Warm Hub Refreshment Lead - This person or persons will oversee activities within the 

Warm Hub’s kitchen. They will be responsible for planning and buying the refreshments 
needed. They will undertake necessary Food Hygiene training and understand about 
displaying information on allergens. 

Page 93



 

- 52 - 

 
• Warm Hub Caretaker - This person or persons will be responsible for setting out 

furniture and equipment to be used at each session. It is suggested that more than one 
person is identified for this role, as sometimes lifting furniture, like tables, requires two 
people to be conducted safely. The Caretaker will ensure heating is turned on ahead of 
the Warm Hub opening its doors so that the space is warm enough to provide a 
welcoming environment. 

 
Not every Warm Hub will have people in all these volunteering roles. We suggest the minimum 
number of volunteers a Warm Hub will need to operate is three; the Warm Hub Lead 
Volunteer, a Welcomer and a Refreshment Lead. 
 
 
 

Page 94



 

- 53 - 

Annex C: Advice and Support Programme Booklet 
 
 
Through the Warm Hubs Advice and Support Programme, residents could be referred to other statutory, voluntary and community services. The 
Programme included a booklet for volunteers to use electronically to signpost people to sources of help if they asked, or through conversation if the 
volunteer recognised that the hub attendee needed help. Cambridgeshire ACRE updated the booklet as new advice and support became available. 
 
The table below summarises the five main sections of the booklet. 
 

Section Information and Organisation 

1. Cost-of-living 
advice for attendees 
struggling with their 
household budget. 

General information and advice  
• Citizens Advice Rural Cambs (for East Cambridgeshire) or Citizens Advice Cambridge & District (for South 

Cambridgeshire).  
• East Cambridgeshire District Council Housing & Community Advice Service.  
• StepChange.  
• MoneyHelper.  
• National Debtline.  
• Business Debtline.  
• Turn2Us.  
• Information was also provided on cost-of-living events organised by East Cambridgeshire District Council, South 

Cambridgeshire District Council, and Cambridgeshire County Council. 
 
Financial support  
• Information about Government’s Cost of Living Support.  
• Council tax and benefits & discretionary housing payments – free benefits calculator, Anglia Revenues Partnership (for 

East Cambridgeshire) and Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support (for South Cambridgeshire).  
• Budgeting Loan – for service users on certain benefits for six months.  
• Other housing support – Shelter.  
• Help with travel costs – Jobcentre Plus Travel Discount Card, and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined 

Authority Transport website.  
• Help with childcare costs – Cambridgeshire Holiday Voucher Scheme (CHVS), and Cambridgeshire Holiday Activities and 

Food (HAF) Programme.  

P
age 95



 

- 54 - 

Section Information and Organisation 

• Help with health costs – Personal Health Budget, and Healthcare Travel Costs Scheme (HTCS).  
• Household Support Fund (HSF).  
• Cambridgeshire Local Assistance Scheme (CLAS)   
• Help with energy bills – Warm Homes advice service, PECT (for East Cambridgeshire), LEAP (for South Cambridgeshire), 

National Energy Action’s Warm and Safe Homes Advice Service, National Energy Foundation’s Better Housing Better 
Health Programme, Cambridgeshire Community Foundation Stay Well grants, Energy Bills Support Scheme, and Warm 
Home Discount Scheme.  

• Water – Anglian water, Cambridge Water (assure & special tariffs), water meter calculator.  
• Phone/broadband – compare the market, and broadband genie.  
• Pets – Woodgreen Pets Charity, Blue Cross Bereavement Service, low cost pet food, and low cost medication.  
• Help with food costs – food and milk vouchers from Healthy Start, free school meals, Cambridgeshire Holiday Voucher 

Scheme (CHVS), Cambridge Sustainable Food, OLIO app, and Too Good To Go app.   
 

2. Providing food at 
your Warm Hub – 
advice for Hubs 
preparing and serving 
food, and access to 
food for attendees. 

• Information about the legal requirements for preparing or serving food in a Warm Hub.  
• Registering as a food business – how to register and contact details for East Cambridgeshire and South Cambridgeshire.  
• Preparing food at home.  
• Food hygiene and safety training – funding for one volunteer from each Warm Hub to undertake a Level 2 Food Hygiene 

and Safety for Catering course.  
• Keeping records.  
• Providing allergen information.  
• Avoiding allergic reactions.  
• Cross contamination.  
• Using surplus food at a Warm Hub – food labelling advice, a list of food from supermarkets, and a list of food 

redistribution apps.  
• A list of foodbanks (by settlement in East and South Cambridgeshire), community fridges, larders and pantries; Hope CIC 

(for South Cambridgeshire), and information about how to set up a foodbank in a Warm Hub. 
 

3. Health and 
Wellbeing advice. 

• Finding NHS services – for urgent and non-urgent physical or mental health issues.  
• Finding support for specific health conditions (e.g. diabetes, cancer, mental health).  
• Social prescribing and prescribers.  
• How Are You East Cambs, and How Are You South Cambs.  
• Hygiene Banks operating in East and South Cambridgeshire.  

P
age 96



 

- 55 - 

Section Information and Organisation 

• Voluntary and community sector organisations and local support groups (e.g. stroke).  
• Help getting to medical appointments – including information about community transport schemes in East and South 

Cambridgeshire.  
• Support for people in distress.  
• Support following bereavement and loss.  
• A list of organisations that provide health and wellbeing support. 
   

4. Community 
fundraising – keeping 
your Warm Hub 
running in the longer-
term. 

• Getting started with community fundraising – 4 essential steps.  
• Community fundraising ideas: local giving by individuals and businesses; foundations, trust funds and grants; Local 

Councils; and wider community fundraising (a list of ideas for indoor and outdoor events).  
• Other fundraising and giving platforms – crowdfunding, and contactless giving.  
• Budget template to help Warm Hubs prepare a budget.  
• Fundraising plan template to help Warm Hubs identify their goal, actions and who and when these are going to be carried 

out. Suggested wording template to assist Warm Hubs in approaching funders. 
 

5. Directory of 
organisations with a 
specific offer for 
Warm Hubs that they 
can contact directly 
and invite to attend 
sessions. 

• Aran Insulation.  
• Cambridge Building Society.  
• Cambridge Dial-a-Ride.  
• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Against Scams Partnership.  
• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence Partnership.  
• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Transport Team.  
• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Integrated Care System.  
• Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service.  
• Cambridgeshire Libraries.  
• Cambridgeshire Sustainable Food CIC.  
• Care Network.  
• Caring Together.  
• Healthwatch Cambridge & Peterborough.  
• Healthy You East Cambridgeshire.  
• Peterborough Environment City Trust (for East Cambridgeshire).  
• Voiceability. 

 

P
age 97



 

- 56 - 

Annex D: List of Warm Hubs and when they opened 
 
 
East Cambridgeshire 
 

Warm Hub Date first 
opened 

Weekly hours Over how 
many days? 

Continuing 
during Apr 

Ashley 24-Nov-22 3 (per month) 1 ✓ 

Burrough Green 03-Nov-22 4 2  

Burwell 07-Nov-22 30 5  

Ely 06-Nov-22 3 1 ✓ 

Fordham 07-Nov-22 6 2 ✓ 

Haddenham and Wilburton 17-Oct-22 30 5 ✓ 

Little Downham 30-Nov-22 7 2 ✓ 

Little Thetford 24-Oct-22 6 2 ✓ 

Littleport 28-Oct-22 4 2 ✓ 

Mepal 07-Nov-22 3 1 ✓ 

Soham 17-Oct-22 3 1 ✓ 

Stetchworth 07-Nov-22 6 2 ✓ 

Sutton 19-Nov-22 3 1  

 
South Cambridgeshire 
 

Warm Hub Date first 
opened 

Weekly hours Over how 
many days? 

Continuing 
during Apr / 
May 

Caldecote 25-Oct-22 6 2 ✓ 

Cambourne 07-Nov-22 17.5 5 ✓ 

Comberton 10-Nov-22 6 2 ✓ 

Cottenham (Community Centre) 11-Nov-22 3 1  

Cottenham (Village Hall) 07-Nov-22 3 1  

Gamlingay (Baptist Church) 30-Jan-23 5.5 1 ✓ 

Gamlingay (Eco Hub) 24-Oct-22 9 4 ✓ 

Grantchester 02-Dec-22 2 1 ✓ 

Great Shelford 14-Nov-22 24 4  

Hardwick 01-Nov-22 2.5 1 ✓ 

Horningsea 13-Dec-22 2.5 1 ✓ 

Landbeach 14-Dec-22 3.5 1 ✓ 

Linton (Free Church) 06-Dec-22 3 1  

Linton (St Mary’s Church) 01-Dec-22 3.5 1  

Melbourn 12-Dec-22 6 2 ✓ 

Meldreth 08-Nov-22 6 2 ✓ 

Milton 06-Dec-22 6 1  

Northstowe 04-Jan-23 5 2 ✓ 

Orchard Park 01-Dec-22 6 2  

Over 21-Nov-22 5 5  

Rampton 09-Nov-22 2.5 1  

Sawston 21-Nov-22 32.5 5 ✓ 

Weston Colville 14-Nov-22 30 5 ✓ 

Willingham (Baptist Church) 16-Nov-22 5 1 ✓ 

Willingham (Octagon) 14-Nov-22 4 1 ✓ 

Page 98



 

- 57 - 

Annex E: Networking sessions for Warm Hub volunteers 
 
 
Cambridgeshire ACRE facilitated monthly networking sessions for Warm Hub volunteers. 
These have provided an opportunity for volunteers to share learning and practice; and find out 
more about the wider package of support available from other organisations. 
 
The table below shows the sessions held, the topics covered, and the number of Warm Hubs 
represented at each one. 
 

Date Session Theme No. of Hubs represented 
East 

Cambridgeshire 
South 

Cambridgeshire 
Nov-2022 Focus on networking and sharing 

experiences to date. 
 

9 15 

Dec-2022 Launch of Advice and Support Programme 
Booklet with focus on cost-of-living 
advice. 
 

9 14 

Jan-2023 Focus on providing food at your Warm 
Hub with guest speaker from Reimagine 
on community larders and pantries. 
 

5 17 

Feb-2023 Focus on health and wellbeing with guest 
speakers from Woodgreen Pets charity on 
support available for those struggling to 
care for their pets.    
 

6 13 

Mar-2023 Focus on future funding and whether 
hubs wish to continue past end March. 
 

7 16 

 

Page 99



 

- 58 - 

Annex F: Attendance numbers at Warm Hubs 
 
 
The tables below show attendance numbers at Warm Hubs in East Cambridgeshire and South 
Cambridgeshire. 
 

East Cambridgeshire 

Warm Hub Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Total 

Ashley  -     17   11   -     10   8   46  

Burrough Green  -     74   80   77   67   87   385  

Burwell  -     47   91   136   117   105     496  

Ely  -     34   27   47   22   20   150  

Fordham  -     49   34   66   68   78   295  

Had’m & Wil’n  211   501   350   488   512   553   2,615  

Little Downham  -     10   113   122   123   164     532  

Little Thetford  69   161   163   205   197     154   949  

Littleport  -     74   139   84   123   100   520  

Mepal  -     51   47   57   55   58   268  

Soham  39   137   132   145   110   118   681  

Stetchworth  -     38   45   47   56   61   247  

Sutton  -     1   1   1   2   -     5  

All Hubs in District  319   1,194   1,233   1,475   1,462   1,506   7,189  

 
South Cambridgeshire 

Warm Hub Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Total 

Caldecote  10   92   61   67   75   82   387  

Cambourne  -     90   75   165   95   180   605  

Comberton  -     79   131   139   123   124   596  

Cottenham (CC)  -     3   2   18   19   16   58  

Cottenham (VH)  -     -     2   3   2   2   9  

Gamlingay (BC)  -     -     -     188   445  514     1,147  

Gamlingay (EH)  42   77   35   161   172   190   677  

Grantchester  -     -     11   10   19   27   67  

Great Shelford  -     54   69   41   11   17   192  

Hardwick  -     7   6   18   15   15   61  

Horningsea  -     -     15   38   36   34   123  

Landbeach  -     -     33   71   83   78   265  

Linton (FC)  -     -     -     -     -     1   1  

Linton (SMC)  -     -     44   30   51   51   176  

Melbourn  -     -     21   52   102   115   290  

Meldreth  -     34   71   41   69   89   304  

Milton  -     -     29   51   62   -     142  

Northstowe  -     -     -     102   232   245   579  

Orchard Park  -     -     17   1   -     -     18  

Over  -     -     -     -     -     -     -    

Rampton  -     15   27   17   18   21   98  

Sawston  -     2   8   26   1,188   1,493   2,717  

Weston Colville  -     111   103   82   128   164   588  

Willingham (BC)  -     4   19   18   19   36   96  

Willingham (O)  -     17   19   43   48   40   167  

All Hubs in District  52   585   798   1,382   3,012   3,534   9,363  

 

All Warm Hubs 371 1,779 2,031 2,857 4,474 5,040 16,552 

 

Page 100



 

- 59 - 

Annex G: Social Return on Investment (SROI) Analysis (East Cambridgeshire) 
 
The table below shows how the information from volunteers and Warm Hub attendees in East Cambridgeshire has been aligned to the Social Value 
Engine. It also shows how the following deflators have been applied:  

• Deadweight: what would have happened anyway, without residents attending a Warm Hub. An analysis of the information shows approximately 
half of volunteers and attendees would have undertaken some activity without the pilot. 

• Attribution: what proportion of other organisations/agencies may have contributed to these outcomes? An analysis of the information shows a 
high number of organisations also disseminating information about help with coping in winter and cost-of-living pressures at the same time as the 
pilot was running.   

• Drop off: what proportion of the outcomes will deteriorate over time? From reviewing the information submitted, two-thirds of attendees and 
volunteers told us they would continue to take positive steps forward. 

 
Outcome SVE financial 

proxy 
and its source 

Number 
reporting 
improvement 

Unit Value 
£ 

Attribution 
% 

Deadweight 
% 

Drop-off 
% 

Warm Hubs 
Impact 

£ 

1. Number of 
Warm Hubs 
supported by 
Cambridgeshire 
ACRE to open 
and operate. 

Cost of inefficient 
collaboration1 

13 Warm Hubs Per organisation 9,180.00 75 50 33 14,917.50 

2. Number of 
volunteers 
receiving training 
to run a Warm 
Hub. 

Participation in 
vocational 
training2 

51 volunteers Per person 1,123.80 75 50 33 7,164.61 

3. Number of 
volunteers 
benefitting from 
running a Warm 
Hub. 

Value that 
frequent 
volunteers place 
on volunteering3 

49 volunteers Per person 3,728.30 75 50 33 22,835.84 

4. Number of 
service users 
regularly 
attending Warm 
Hubs. 

Regular 
attendance at 
voluntary or local 
organisation4 

4,745 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per person 2,034.50 80 80 40 386,159.49 

P
age 101



 

- 60 - 

Outcome SVE financial 
proxy 
and its source 

Number 
reporting 
improvement 

Unit Value 
£ 

Attribution 
% 

Deadweight 
% 

Drop-off 
% 

Warm Hubs 
Impact 

£ 

5. Number of 
service users 
reporting 
reduced social 
isolation. 

Value of 
befriending 
adults5 

3,701 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per person 578.46 75 75 33 133,805.03 

6. Number of 
service users 
accessing other 
services through 
Warm Hubs. 

Additional cost of 
accessing 
services6 

503 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per household 4,645.00 75 75 33 93,458.00 

7. Number of 
service user 
households 
benefitting from 
energy/heating 
information and 
advice. 

Average fuel 
poverty gap7 

1,797 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per household 239.48 80 80 33 53,793.20 

8. Number of 
service users 
attending a 
Warm Hub to 
cope with cost-
of-living 
pressures. 

Cost to heat an 
average 
household in 
winter8 

1,329 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per household 5.11 
 

75 50 33 848.90 

 
Dividing the net value of these impacts at their present value [i.e. discounted following HM Treasury norms] by the input costs which comprise the 
funding paid out to Warm Hubs (£26,130) and volunteer hours (£106,154) shows that the Warm Hubs in East Cambridgeshire delivered £5.21 of social 
value for every £1.00 invested in them.  
 

P
age 102



 

- 61 - 

Annex H: Social Return on Investment (SROI) Analysis (South Cambridgeshire) 
 
The table below shows how the information from volunteers and Warm Hub attendees in South Cambridgeshire has been aligned to the Social Value 
Engine. It also shows how the following deflators have been applied:  

• Deadweight: what would have happened anyway, without residents attending a Warm Hub. An analysis of the information shows approximately 
half of volunteers and attendees would have undertaken some activity without the pilot. 

• Attribution: what proportion of other organisations/agencies may have contributed to these outcomes? An analysis of the information shows a 
high number of organisations also disseminating information about help with coping in winter and cost-of-living pressures at the same time as the 
pilot was running.   

• Drop off: what proportion of the outcomes will deteriorate over time? From reviewing the information submitted, two-thirds of attendees and 
volunteers told us they would continue to take positive steps forward. 

 
Outcome SVE financial 

proxy 
and its source 

Number 
reporting 
improvement 

Unit Value 
£ 

Attribution 
% 

Deadweight 
% 

Drop-off 
% 

Warm Hubs 
Impact 

£ 

1. Number of 
Warm Hubs 
supported by 
Cambridgeshire 
ACRE to open 
and operate. 

Cost of inefficient 
collaboration1 

25 Warm Hubs Per organisation 9,180.00 75 50 33 28,687.50 

2. Number of 
volunteers 
receiving training 
to run a Warm 
Hub. 

Participation in 
vocational 
training2 

105 volunteers Per person 1,123.80 75 50 33 14,750.66 

3. Number of 
volunteers 
benefitting from 
running a Warm 
Hub. 

Value that 
frequent 
volunteers place 
on volunteering3 

101 volunteers Per person 3,728.30 75 50 33 47,069.79 

4. Number of 
service users 
regularly 
attending Warm 
Hubs. 

Regular 
attendance at 
voluntary or local 
organisation4 

6,180 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per person 2,034.50 75 75 33 785,848.80 

P
age 103



 

- 62 - 

Outcome SVE financial 
proxy 
and its source 

Number 
reporting 
improvement 

Unit Value 
£ 

Attribution 
% 

Deadweight 
% 

Drop-off 
% 

Warm Hubs 
Impact 

£ 

5. Number of 
service users 
reporting 
reduced social 
isolation. 

Value of 
befriending 
adults5 

4,820 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per person 578.46 75 75 33 174,261.08 

6. Number of 
service users 
accessing other 
services through 
Warm Hubs. 

Additional cost of 
accessing 
services6 

655 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per household 4,645.00 75 75 33 190,155.92 

7. Number of 
service user 
households 
benefitting from 
energy/heating 
information and 
advice. 

Average fuel 
poverty gap7 

2,341 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per household 239.48 75 50 33 70,077.83 

8. Number of 
service users 
attending a 
Warm Hub to 
cope with cost-
of-living 
pressures. 

Cost to heat an 
average 
household in 
winter8 

1,730 Warm Hub 
attendees 

Per household 5.11 
 

75 50 33 1,105.04 

 
Dividing the net value of these impacts at their present value [i.e. discounted following HM Treasury norms] by the input costs which comprise the 
funding paid out to Warm Hubs (£40,450) and volunteer hours (£261,844) shows that the Warm Hubs in South Cambridgeshire delivered £4.19 of social 
value for every £1.00 invested in them. 

P
age 104



 

- 63 - 

 
 

1 https://www.talk-business.co.uk/2017/06/20/inefficient-communications-and-collaboration-costs-uk-companies-8000-per-employee-per-year/ 
2 https://socialvalueuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Impacts-of-education-pdf.pdf  
3 https://www.powertochange.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Value_of_Volunteering_Working_Paper_Final.pdf  
4 https://www.tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/The-Economics-of-CATs-Power-to-Change.pdf?mtime=20200306143844&focal=none  
5 http://allcatsrgrey.org.uk/wp/download/social_care/Older_adults_NHS_and_social_care_return_on_investment_tool_-_Final_report.pdf  
6 https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/minimum-income-standard-rural-households  
7 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/966509/Annual_Fuel_Poverty_Statistics_LILEE_Report_2021__2019_data_.pdf  
8 https://www.moneyhelper.org.uk/en/blog/utilities/how-much-is-the-average-gas-and-electricity-bill-per-month  

 

P
age 105

https://www.talk-business.co.uk/2017/06/20/inefficient-communications-and-collaboration-costs-uk-companies-8000-per-employee-per-year/
https://socialvalueuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Impacts-of-education-pdf.pdf
https://www.powertochange.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Value_of_Volunteering_Working_Paper_Final.pdf
https://www.tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/media/insights/documents/The-Economics-of-CATs-Power-to-Change.pdf?mtime=20200306143844&focal=none
http://allcatsrgrey.org.uk/wp/download/social_care/Older_adults_NHS_and_social_care_return_on_investment_tool_-_Final_report.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/minimum-income-standard-rural-households
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/966509/Annual_Fuel_Poverty_Statistics_LILEE_Report_2021__2019_data_.pdf
https://www.moneyhelper.org.uk/en/blog/utilities/how-much-is-the-average-gas-and-electricity-bill-per-month


T
his page is left blank intentionally.



Struggling to pay your bills? 
There is help available
We are supporting working age residents with a more 
generous localised council tax support scheme from April 
2023. Our calculator at https://hbcalc.scambs.gov.uk/
HBCalculatorPaged/launch will give you some indication 
if you would qualify and the amount you may receive. Scan 
this QR code to access our calculator or call 01954 713000. 

Below are some real-life examples of people who qualify for 
support towards their council tax.

Family 1 Family 2

A couple and two children, with 
one member of the couple being 
disabled. 

The couple’s earnings are £505 a 
week. They receive child benefit, and 
personal independence payments for 
living component and mobility. 

Their total income is £650.66 per 
week. 

Their council tax is a band D = 
£2167.89 a year.

This family is entitled to a 70% 
discount on their council tax, 
saving them £1,517.52 a year.

A working lone parent with            
two children.

The total earnings are £383.58 a 
week. They receive child benefit 
and universal credit. 

Their total income is £456.29. 

Their council tax is a band B = 
£1257.65 per year with a single 
person’s discount. 

This family is entitled to a 25% 
discount on their council tax, 
saving them £314.41 a year.

Don’t miss out on getting the help you’re entitled to – apply online today!

www.scambs.gov.uk
Email: duty.communities@scambs.gov.uk
Call: 01954 713000

Page 107

Appendix C



We may be able to help with your energy bills. The Household Support Fund is 
available to help people experiencing immediate financial hardship to pay for food 
and/or household energy bills. This provides one-off financial support. You can 
apply by contacting duty.communities@scambs.gov.uk. There may be further help 
available for people on prepayment meters. To access this support please email                                     
duty.communities@scambs.gov.uk. 

Foodbanks provide food to those struggling with rising costs during the cost-
of-living crisis. A list of foodbanks in South Cambridgeshire can be found at
www.scambs.gov.uk/community-safety-and-health/foodbanks-and-food-hubs/. 

If a foodbank requires a voucher, please contact duty.communities@scambs.gov.uk and 
we will provide you with one. Additionally, if you cannot travel to your nearest foodbank, 
please include this in your email as we may be able to provide support with this. 

If you are not eligible for localised council 
tax support, other help is available.
If you are struggling to pay your Council Tax, you may be able 
to get a reduction under the Council’s discretionary council 
tax support scheme. For more information visit our webpage 
www.scambs.gov.uk/council-tax/reductions-and-discounts/
council-tax-discretionary-reduction-scheme or scan the       
following QR code or call 01954 713000. 

www.scambs.gov.uk
Email: duty.communities@scambs.gov.uk
Call: 01954 713000

Page 108



Scrutiny Work Programme 
 

Date of Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee meeting 
 

Scrutiny and Overview Committee agenda / work programme 
 

16 November 2023  Bids and Savings 

 2023/2024 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring (Quarter 2) 

 Capital programme Update & New Bids 

 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

18 January 2024  General Fund Budget 24-25 

 Local Council Tax Support 

 MTFS 

15 February 2024  2023/2024 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring (Quarter 3) 

Homelessness Strategy 

21 March 2024 
 

- 

16 May 2024 
 

- 

6 June 2024 (to be confirmed) 
 

- 

To be allocated  Civil Parking Enforcement 

 Planning engagement with town and parish councils 
 

 

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is left blank intentionally.



 
 
  
Notice of Key and Non-Key Decisions 
 
To be taken under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 from 1 October  2023 
 
 
Notice is hereby given of: 
 

 Key and Non-Key decisions that will be taken by Cabinet, individual Lead Cabinet Members or Officers 

 Confidential or exempt executive decisions that will be taken in a meeting from which the public will be excluded (for whole or part) 
 
A Key Decision is a decision by the Cabinet, or an individual Cabinet Member or officer, which is likely to either incur significant* expenditure or make 
significant savings, or to have a significant impact on those living or working in 2 or more wards. 
 
*A decision to: 

1. Incur expenditure or savings in excess of £200,000; or 
2. Acquire or dispose of land or property with a value in excess of £1,000,000 shall be treated as significant for these purposes. However, a decision 

to invite a tender or award a contract shall not be treated as a key decision where the purpose of the contract is to fulfil the intention of any policy 
or scheme included in the policy framework or budget or involves a continuation of an existing policy or service standard. 

 
A notice / agenda, together with reports and supporting documents for each meeting will be published at least five working days before the date of the 
meeting.  In order to enquire about the availability of documents and subject to any restriction on their disclosure, copies may be requested from 
Democratic Services, South Cambridgeshire District Council, South Cambridgeshire Hall, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 
6EA. Agenda and documents may be accessed electronically at www.scambs.gov.uk 
 
Formal notice is hereby given under the above Regulations that, where indicated (in column 4), part of the meetings listed in this notice may be held in 
private because the agenda and reports for the meeting will contain confidential or exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing it. See overleaf for the relevant paragraphs. 
 

 
If you have any queries relating to this Notice, please contact 

Ian Senior on 01954 713028  or by e-mailing ian.senior@scambs.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 111

http://www.scambs.gov.uk/
mailto:ian.senior@scambs.gov.uk


Paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 
(Reason for a report to be considered in private) 
 

1. Information relating to any individual 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 

matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority 
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings 
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an Order or Direction under any enactment 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 
 
 
 
The Decision Makers referred to in this document are as follows: 
 
Cabinet  
 
Councillor Bridget Smith 
Councillor Brian Milnes 
Councillor Henry Batchelor 
Councillor John Batchelor 
Councillor Bill Handley 
Councillor Tumi Hawkins 
Councillor Peter McDonald 
Councillor Brian Milnes 
Councillor John Williams 

Leader of the Council 
Deputy Leader 
Environment 
Housing 
Communities 
Planning  
Economic Development 
Environment 
Resources 

 

P
age 112



 
 
Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 October 2023 
 

Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
being considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 

Part 1: Key Decisions 
 

 
Acquisition of 47 
Affordable Homes, 
Sawston 
 
Key 
 

 
To decide whether to 
proceed to contract to 
purchase 47 new 
homes in Sawston 
Parish. Confidential 
report 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
07 November 2023 
 

 
Report contains 
commercially 
sensitive 
information. 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Housing 
 
Kirstin Donaldson, 
Service Manager - 
Acquisitions and 
Development 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 30 
October 2023 
 

 
Aids & Adaptation 
Policy relating to 
council tenants 
 
Key 
 

 
To approve the Aids 
& Adaptation Policy 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
07 November 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Housing 
 
Julie Fletcher, 
Service Manager – 
Housing Strategy 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 30 
October 2023 
 

 
Damp and mould 
policy 
 
Key 
 

 
Members to approve 
a Damp & Mould 
Policy relating to 
council owned 
properties 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
07 November 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Housing 
 
Julie Fletcher, 
Service Manager – 
Housing Strategy 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 30 
October 2023 
 

       

P
age 113



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 November 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

Greater Cambridge 
Local Development 
Scheme interim 
update 
 
Key 
 

The Local 
Development Scheme 
(LDS) is a timetable 
for the production of 
new or revised 
documents that set 
out the planning 
policy framework for 
Greater Cambridge. 
The latest LDS was 
agreed by the 
Councils in 2022. The 
Councils are required 
to keep it up to date. 
This decision is to 
agree an interim 
update to the LDS. 

Cabinet 
 

Not before 07 
November 2023 
 

 
 

Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Planning 
 
Caroline Hunt, 
Strategy and 
Economy Manager, 
Jonathan Dixon, 
Planning Policy 
Manager 
 

Cabinet report 
publication 
expected five clear 
working days before 
the meeting 
 

 
Local Impact Report 
for the Cambridge 
Waste Water 
Treatment Plant 
Relocation 
Development 
Consent Order 
 
Key 
 

 
The decision relates 
to the Council’s Local 
Impact Report to be 
submitted for the 
Cambridge Waste 
Water Treatment 
Plant Relocation 
DCO. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
07 November 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
 
Philippa Kelly, 
Strategic Sites 
Manager, Chenge 
Taruvinga, Senior 
Planning Officer 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected five clear 
working days before 
the meeting. 
 

 
Fees & Charges 
 
Key 
 

 
Annual review and 
determination of fees 
and charges to be set 
by the Council from 
April 24. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
05 December 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Peter Maddock, 
Head of Finance 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
November 2023 
 

P
age 114



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 November 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 

 
Quarter 2 
Performance report 
 
Key 
 

 
To consider Council 
performance during 
July, August and 
September 2023 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
05 December 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Kevin Ledger, 
Senior Policy and 
Performance Officer 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 27 
November 2023 
 

 
Annual Equality 
Scheme Update 
and Progress 
Report 
 
Key 
 

 
To consider an 
update 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
12 March 2024 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Kevin Ledger, 
Senior Policy and 
Performance Officer 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 4 
March 2024 
 

 
Homelessness 
Strategy 
 
Key 
 

 
To consider a 
revised Strategy. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
12 March 2024 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Housing 
 
Susan Carter, 
Service Manager - 
Housing Advice and 
Options 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 4 
March 2024 
 

 
Quarter 3 
Performance report 
 
Key 

 
To consider Council 
performance during 
October, November 
and December 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
12 March 2024 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 4 
March 2024 

P
age 115



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 November 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 2023 Kevin Ledger, 
Senior Policy and 
Performance Officer 
 

 

 
Greater Cambridge 
Housing Strategy 
 
Key 
 

 
To approve the draft 
Strategy to go out to 
public consultation 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
June 2024 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Housing 
 
Julie Fletcher, 
Service Manager – 
Housing Strategy 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected five clear 
working days before 
the meeting. 
 

 

Part 2: Non-Key Decisions 
 

 
Acquisition and 
Delivery of Rural 
Exception Site, 
Cottenham. 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
To consider a 
confidential report 
by virtue of 
paragraph 3 of Sch. 
12A to the Local 
Government Act 
1972 (as amended). 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
07 November 2023 
 

 
Report contains 
commercially 
sensitive 
information. 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Housing 
 
Kirstin Donaldson, 
Service Manager - 
Acquisitions and 
Development 
 

 
Confidential 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 30 
October 2023 
 

 
Cost of Living 
update 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Members are asked 
to review and note the 
report and provide 
comments on any 
issues arising as 
required. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
07 November 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
Member for 
Communities 
 
Chris Riches, 
Project Officer 
(Cost of Living) 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 30 
October 2023 
 

P
age 116



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 November 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 
Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
(First Submission) 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Review and ensure 
that Council is aware 
of the financial 
challenges over the 
medium-term. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
07 November 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Peter Maddock, 
Head of Finance 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 30 
October 2023 
 

 
Rural Shared 
Prosperity Fund 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Review, approve or 
amend the policy, 
application criteria 
and determination 
process for the Rural 
Shared Prosperity 
grant scheme 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
Not before 07 
November 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
Member for 
Economic 
Development 
 
Katherine 
Southwood, 
Business Support 
Projects Team 
Leader 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 30 
October 2023 
 

 
2023/2024 
Revenue and 
Capital Budget 
Monitoring (Quarter 
2) 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Consider the 
monitoring data and 
trends in respect of 
the 2023/24 budgets 
and issues. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
05 December 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Peter Maddock, 
Head of Finance 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
November 2023 
 

 
Automated Teller 
Machine (ATM) 
Target Hardening 
Project Update 

 
No decision. Just a 
progress update on a 
Community Safety 
Project, assessing the 
viability to use 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
05 December 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
Member for 
Communities 
 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 27 
November 2023 

P
age 117



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 November 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

 
Non-Key 
 

planters to  target 
harden ATM sites 
around the District 
that have ben 
highlighted by Police 
as high risk of ram 
raiding. Funding was 
in form of UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund, 
improving South 
Cambs High Street 
project. Funding 
available 1 Apr 2024. 

Linda Gallagher, 
Development 
Officer 
 

 

 
Bids and Savings 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Consider new 
Revenue bids and 
savings for 
2024/2025. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
05 December 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Peter Maddock, 
Head of Finance 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
November 2023 
 

 
Capital programme 
Update & New Bids 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Report Council’s 
Capital Programme 
and new Capital bids 
from 2024/25 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
05 December 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Peter Maddock, 
Head of Finance 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 27 
November 2023 
 

 
Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy Refresh 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
To agree the refresh 
and direction of 
strategy, updated to 
reflect ICS strategy 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
05 December 2023 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
Member for 
Communities 
 
Gareth Bell, 

 
Cabinet report 
publication 
expected on 27 
November 2023 
 

P
age 118



Key and non-key decisions expected to be made from 1 November 2023 
 Decision to be 
made 

Description of 
Decision 

Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report 
to be considered 
in Private 

 

Lead Cabinet 
Members  and 
Contact Officer 

Documents 
submitted to the 
decision maker 

 

Communications 
and Communities 
Service Manager 
 

 
2023/2024 
Revenue and 
Capital Budget 
Monitoring (Quarter 
3) 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Consider the 
monitoring data and 
trends in respect of 
the 2023/24 budgets 
and issues. 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
12 March 2024 
 

 
 
 

 
Lead Cabinet 
member for 
Resources 
 
Peter Maddock, 
Head of Finance 
 

 
Report publication 
expected on 4 
March 2024 
 

 

Part 3: General Exception Notices 
 

 

None 
 

 

Part 4: Special Urgency Notices 
 

 

None 
 

 
 

      

 
 

P
age 119



T
his page is left blank intentionally.



Scrutiny Work Programme Prioritisation Tool 

 

   

 

YES 

  

 

YES 

    

 

 

YES 

 

 

 

YES 

 

 

 

 NO 

 

 

YES 

 

 

 

YES 

 

  

 YES  

 

Does the issue have a potential 

impact on one or more electoral 

wards in South Cambs? 

Is the issue strategic and 

significant? 

Will scrutiny of the issue add 

value to the Council’s overall 

performance? 

Is it likely to lead to effective 

outcomes? 

Will this scrutiny activity duplicate 

any other work? 

Is the issue of community 

concern? 

Are there adequate resources 

available to support scrutiny 

activity on the issue? 

Is the scrutiny activity timely? 

 

HIGH PRIORITY  

Include in Work Programme 

 

Low Priority 

Consider including in 

Work Programme 

 

 

Leave Out 

NO 

NO 

NO 

NO 

YES 

NO 

NO 

NO 

Page 121



This page is left blank intentionally.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Northstowe - Community Facilities Update
	Appendix - Plan of Management and Maintenance Responsibilities

	6 Cost-of-living support update
	Cost of living support update report vDemServices
	Appendix A - Cost of Living response evaluation for projects from 14 November 2022 to 31 March 2023
	Appendix B - Warm Hubs in Winter in East and South Cambridgeshire Evaluation Report
	Appendix C - Cost of Living and Council Tax Support leaflet

	7 Work Programme
	Forward Plan
	Scrutiny prioritisation tool




